

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Complexity 21 (2005) 652-690

Journal of COMPLEXITY

www.elsevier.com/locate/jco

Numerical analysis of a bisection-exclusion method to find zeros of univariate analytic functions

J.-C. Yakoubsohn

Laboratoire MIP, Bureau 131, Université Paul Sabatier, 118 Route de Narbonne, 31 062 Toulouse, France Received 15 December 2004; accepted 21 June 2005

Abstract

We state precise results on the complexity of a classical bisection-exclusion method to locate zeros of univariate analytic functions contained in a square. The output of this algorithm is a list of squares containing all the zeros. It is also a robust method to locate clusters of zeros. We show that the global complexity depends on the following quantities: the size of the square, the desired precision, the number of clusters of zeros in the square, the distance between the clusters and the global behavior of the analytic function and its derivatives. We also prove that, closed to a cluster of zeros, the complexity depends only on the number of zeros inside the cluster. In particular, for a polynomial which has *d* simple roots separated by a distance greater than *sep*, we will prove the bisection-exclusion algorithm needs $O(d^3 \log(d/sep))$ tests to isolate the *d* roots and the number of squares suspected to contain a zero is bounded by 4*d*. Moreover, always in the polynomial case, we will see the arithmetic complexity can be reduced to $O(d^2 (\log d)^2 \log(d/sep))$ using $\lceil \log d \rceil$ steps of the Graeffe iteration. (© 2005 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

MSC: 65H05

Keywords: a-Theory; Bisection; Exclusion; Clusters of zeros

Contents

1.	Bisection-exclusion method and main results	. 653
2.	Context and links with related works	. 659
3.	The exclusion function	. 660
4.	Theoretical complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm	. 661

E-mail address: yak@mip.ups-tlse.fr.

5. Geometry of zeros	665
6. Behavior of the exclusion function	665
6.1. Local behavior	665
6.2. Global behavior	666
7. Proofs of the main theorems	667
7.1. Proof of Theorem 1.1	667
7.2. Proof of Theorem 1.2	668
8. Bisection-exclusion algorithm for nearly real zeros	668
9. The polynomial case	670
9.1. Complexity for the localization of complex roots	670
9.2. Complexity for the localization of simple real roots	671
9.3. Rounding error analysis and bit-complexity	671
9.4. Bit complexity	
9.5. Improvement using Graeffe iterates	
10. Practical comments, examples and numerical experiments	
10.1. Bounds for roots	674
10.2. Sums of polynomials and exponentials	674
10.3. Polynomial x ^m	675
10.4. Bisection-exclusion linked with Graeffe iteration	675
11. Conclusion and further research	
Index of symbols	677
Acknowledgments	6/8
Appendix A. Proofs	
A.I. Proof of Theorem 4.2	
A.2. Proof of Theorem 5.3	
A.3. Proof of Theorem 6.2	
A.4. Proof of Theorem 6.4	
A.5. Proof of Theorem 8.1	
A.6. Proof of Theorem 9.1	
A.7. Proof of Theorem 9.2	
A.8. Proof of Theorem 10.1	
References	689

1. Bisection-exclusion method and main results

The goal of the bisection-exclusion method which is studied in this paper is to locate and to approximate the zeros of an analytic function f in a specified bounded domain. In all the paper, f will be an analytic function defined on \mathbb{C} and the domain will be the square S_0 introduced below. The set of zeros of f inside S_0 is denoted by Z. The principle of this method is to remove from this domain subsets which do not contain any zero and to return arbitrary small subsets containing the zeros. Such a method mainly depends on two ingredients: the choice of an exclusion test and a strategy to remove subsets of a initial domain. The subsets here considered will be squares. We will denote by S(x, s) the closed square centered at $x \in \mathbb{C}$ with side length 2s. The set S will be the set of closed squares contained in the square $S_0 := S(x_0, s_0)$.

The exclusion tests: Let us consider a function E defined from S into {True, False} satisfying the following property: E(S) = True implies the square $S \subset S_0$ does not contain any zero of f. Such a function E is an exclusion test associated to f. When E(S) = False nothing can be deduced and the square S may contain a zero.

The exclusion test used here: Let us consider the following function *M* defined over $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$:

$$M(x,t) = |f(x)| - \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!} t^k.$$

We will prove in Section 3 that the function Exclusion defined by

$$Exclusion(S(x, s)) = True \Leftrightarrow M(x, s\sqrt{2}) > 0,$$

is an exclusion test.

The Algorithm. We start with the initial square S_0 , the analytic function f and a precision ε . The result of the algorithm is a set of squares Z_{ε} containing $Z \cap S_0$. Each square of the output has a size less than or equal to ε . Let us describe the first step of the algorithm. We consider a set of squares Z_{ε} initialized to $Z_{\varepsilon} = \{S_0\}$. If $Exclusion(S_0) = True$ then we stop and $Z_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$. In the contrary case, $Exclusion(S_0) = False$, we divide S_0 into four closed squares with size $s_0/2$ and we replace the square S_0 by these four new squares in the set Z_{ε} . At step $k \ge 0$ of the algorithm, the set Z_{ε} is constituted of squares with the same size $s_0/2^k$. Then we compute Exclusion(S) for each square S of Z_{ε} . If Exclusion(S) = True, we remove this square of the set Z_{ε} . In the contrary case if Exclusion(S) is False and the size of the square S by these four new squares with size $s_0/2^{k+1}$ and we replace the square S by these four new squares with stops when $Z_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$ or if the size of each square of Z_{ε} is less than or equal to ε .

We will denote

$$divide(S(x, 2s)) := \{S(x - ws, s), S(x + ws, s), S(x - \bar{w}s, s), S(x + \bar{w}s, s)\}$$

with $w = 1 + \sqrt{-1}$. Introducing an intermediate set Z_{false} , this algorithm is written in a pseudo-code language like:

Inputs: *f* a polynomial, $S_0 = S(x_0, s_0)$ a square, $\varepsilon > 0$ a precision.

 $Z_{\varepsilon} = \{S_0\}$

Repeat

 $Z_{false} = \emptyset$

For each square $S(x, s) \in Z_{\varepsilon}$ do

If Exclusion(S(x, s)) = False then

 $Z_{false} := Z_{false} \cup divide(S(x, s)).$

end if

end for

 $Z_{\varepsilon} = Z_{false}$

Until $Z_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$ or the size of each square of Z_{ε} is less than or equal to ε .

Output: The set of squares Z_{ε} .



Fig. 1.

Fig. 1 illustrates how the algorithm works with functions like $f(x) = g_1(x)e^{ix} + g_2(x)e^{(-1+2i)x}$, where $g_1(x)$ and $g_2(x)$ are univariate complex polynomials given in Section 10.2. This function has four clusters of zeros: a simple zero 0.5 - i, a cluster of two zeros in the disk $D(-1 + 0.6i, 10^{-3})$, a cluster of three zeros in $D(0.8 + 0.5i, 10^{-4})$, a cluster of four zeros in $D(-1 - 0.8i, 10^{-4})$. The algorithm is initialized with the initial square S(0, 1.5) and the precision $\varepsilon = 0.03$. Fig. 1 shows the steps from 1 to 7 skipping the step 3: at steps 1–3 all the squares are retained. Some squares begin to be excluded at steps 4 and 5. The four clusters of zeros are separated at step 6. At this step the radius of squares is equal to ε . Hence, the step 7 is the last and the squares not excluded after the exclusion test are in the output set Z_{ε} . We see the clusters which appear with a black dot on the figures are contained in the set Z_{ε} .

For smallest values of ε , $0.02 \le \varepsilon \le 0.0002$, the numerical results show that the number of retained squares around of each zero does not change. For these values of ε the figures representing Z_{ε} are similar that of the figure of step 7. If we continue this process in the square $S(-1 - 0.8i, 10^{-4})$ with the precision 4×10^{-6} , Fig. 2 below shows the three last steps where the four zeros of the cluster are located. These results have been obtained with a precision of 30 digits under the Maple software.

These numerical experiments illustrate a property of the bisection-exclusion algorithm: the number of retained squares around each zero mainly depends on the multiplicity of the





zero. This paper will prove this fact. In particular we will show that the number of retained squares around a simple zero is bounded by 4.

The analysis of this algorithm depends on three quantities: the number q_{ε} of squares of the output set Z_{ε} , the total number Q_{ε} of exclusion tests, and finally the numerical quality of the obtained approximation.

Before stating a theoretical result which explains the experiments above, we need to introduce some notations and to precise the context. We will suppose that the analytic

function *f* has *d* zeros z_1, \ldots, z_d in the square S_0 . Let $g(z) = \prod_{k=1}^d (z - z_k)$ and h(z) be the analytic function, such that f(z) = g(z)h(z). The global behavior of h(z) and its derivatives in the square S_0 is described by the quantities λ and τ defined by

$$\forall x \in S_0, \quad \frac{|h^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|h(x)|} \leq \lambda \tau^{k-1}, \quad k \ge 1.$$
(1)

In all the paper, λ and τ are chosen in order to verify

$$2\tau s_0 \sqrt{2} \leqslant \frac{1}{2}.\tag{2}$$

The background of the analysis is done with respect to the following quantities, see [37]:

$$\beta_m(f;\zeta) = \max_{0 \leqslant k \leqslant m-1} \left| \frac{m!f^{(k)}(\zeta)}{k!f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right|^{\frac{1}{m-k}}$$
$$\gamma_m(f;\zeta) = \max_{k \geqslant m+1} \left| \frac{m!f^{(k)}(\zeta)}{k!f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right|^{\frac{1}{k-m}},$$
$$\alpha_m(f;\zeta) = \beta_m(f;\zeta)\gamma_m(f;\zeta).$$

These quantities have been introduced in the case m = 1 by Smale [4] and we will denote $\beta(f, \zeta)$, $\gamma(f, \zeta)$ and $\alpha(f, \zeta)$. We also need several auxiliary functions. First, we let for

 $u \in [0, 1/2[\text{ and } \delta \in \{0, 1\}:$

$$L_{m,\delta}(u) = \frac{2^{m-1}\delta u}{1-u} + \frac{(2-u)^m}{(1-u)^{m+1}} - 2^m + \frac{u}{(1-u)^{m+1}(1-2u)}$$

In the case m = 1, $\delta = 0$ we have $L_1(u) := L_{1,0}(u) = \frac{4u}{1-2u}$. Next

$$b_m(u) = \begin{cases} 1 + \frac{1}{(2 - L_{m,1}(u))^{\frac{1}{m}} - 1} & \text{if } m > 1, \\ 1 + \frac{1}{1 - L_1(u)} = \frac{2(1 - 4u)}{1 - 6u} & \text{if } m = 1. \end{cases}$$

Let μ_m be such that

$$\forall \mu, \mu \ge 0, \mu \le \mu_m, q(b_m(0) + \mu) = q(b_m(0)),$$

where q(b) is the number of squares of size *r* included in a disk of radius $br\sqrt{2}$ (see Lemma 4.2). We then define $u_m(\mu)$ as the first positive zero of the equation

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_{m,1}(u) = 2 - \left(1 + \frac{1}{\mu + b_m(0) - 1}\right)^m & \text{if } m > 1, \\ L_1(u) = \frac{\mu}{\mu + 1} & \text{if } m = 1. \end{bmatrix}$$

where $\mu \ge 0$. It is equivalent to

$$b_m(u_m(\mu)) = b_m(0) + \mu.$$

By cluster of *m* zeros of *f* around $\zeta \in S_0$ and of radius ρ , we mean a closed disk of radius *r* centered in a zero ζ of *f*. We will suppose that the clusters of zeros centered in a zero of *f* to simplify the technical computations. This does not remove anything with the generality of the results obtained. We gather the zeros of *f* in *p* clusters of zeros denoted by $\overline{D}_i := \overline{D}_{m_i}(\zeta_i, \rho_i), 1 \le i \le p$, such that $f(\zeta_i) = 0$ and the two following requirements:

$$\rho_i = \left(\frac{\beta_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)}{\gamma_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)}\right)^{1/2},\tag{3}$$

$$4\sqrt{2}b\rho < r = \min_{1 \le i \le p} \frac{u_{m_i}(\mu_{m_i})}{\gamma_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)} \tag{4}$$

hold with $\rho = \max_{i} \rho_{i}, \bar{b} = \max_{1 \leq i \leq p} b_{m_{i}}(0) + \mu_{m_{i}}$ and $b = \max\left(b_{d}(0) + \frac{3^{d}\lambda}{\tau}, \bar{b}\right)$. Evidently a regrouping of the zeros according to the criteria above is always possible. For example, we can consider the regrouping of distinct zeros of *f*. In this case, all the ρ_{i} 's are equal to zero. We will also consider *D* which satisfies $b \leq 1 + \frac{1}{2^{1/D}-1}$. In this paper log will be the logarithm to the base 2. We then can state

Theorem 1.1. Let us consider an analytic function f defined on \mathbb{C} which has p clusters of zeros in a square S_0 described as previous. Let us suppose that the requirements (1) and (2), (3) and (4) are satisfied. Let $j_0 = \left\lceil \log \frac{\sqrt{2}bs_0}{r} \right\rceil$ and $j_1 = \left\lfloor \log \frac{s_0}{\rho} \right\rfloor$. Then we have $j_0 < j_1$.

Let ε verifying $\frac{s_0}{2^j} \leq \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j-1}}$. Then the output set Z_{ε} of the bisection-exclusion algorithm is a union of p pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ such that $\overline{D}_i \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset D(\zeta_i, r)$. Let $q_{\varepsilon,i}$ be the number of retained squares in $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. We then have

1. For all
$$x \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$$
, $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq (2m_i + \mu_{m_i}) \sqrt{2\varepsilon}$, $1 \leq i \leq p$.
2. $q_{\varepsilon,i} \leq 4m_i^2$, $1 \leq i \leq p$.
3. $Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 16 \left(j_0 p D^2 + (j - j_0) \sum_{i=1}^p m_i^2 \right)$.

Let us comment the two terms which contribute to the upper bound of the number of tests Q_{f} . We will see the first count the number of steps to isolate the cluster of roots while the second gives the number of tests when the algorithm works closed to the clusters of roots.

In the simple roots case the radius ρ_i 's are zero. We can state

Theorem 1.2. Let us consider an analytic function f defined on \mathbb{C} which has only simple zeros z_1, \ldots, z_d in S_0 . We denote by $\gamma(f) = \max_i \gamma(f, z_i)$. Let us suppose (1) and (2). Let $j_0 = \left[\log \left(23\sqrt{2}(2d + \lambda \frac{3^d}{\tau})\gamma(f)s_0 \right) \right]$ and a precision ε satisfying $\frac{s_0}{2^j} \le \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j-1}}$ with $j_0 < j$. Then the output set Z_{ε} of the bisection-exclusion algorithm is a union of d pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ with $\zeta_i \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. We then have

- 1. For all $x \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$, $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq 3\sqrt{2\varepsilon}$, $1 \leq i \leq d$. 2. Each set $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ contains at most four squares.
- 3. $Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 16dD^2j_0 + 16d(j j_0)$.

This paper is organized as follows: in Section 3, we introduce the notion of exclusion function on which is based the complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm. In Section 4, we put this problem in a more general setting to understand the notions on which this analysis is founded. To do that we develop a theoretical way to study the complexity of the bisection-exclusion method in the general case where the zeros of the analytic function are gathered in clusters. The main Theorem 4.1 of this section shows that the complexity mainly depends on the distance between the clusters of zeros and on the behavior of the exclusion function in the square S_0 . Always in this section we show how this exclusion function is related to the number of squares that is possible to include in a disk: Lemma 4.2 states a precise result in this way. In Section 5, we introduce the notion of separation number and give a lower bound of the minimal distance between the clusters of zeros. In Section 6, we study the behavior of this exclusion function. This section is the technical background of our paper. Two new results will be given. The first concerns the local behavior of the exclusion function. The second generalizes in the analytic case a classical result concerning the global behavior of the exclusion function associated to a polynomial. The proofs of Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 are done in Section 7. To do that we verify the assumptions of Theorem 4.1 combining the results obtained in Sections 5 and 6. In Section 8, we will specialize the previous results of complexity to only find the nearly real zeros in a given interval. We will also discuss the localization of real roots of a polynomial. Section 9 is devoted to the polynomial case. We will give a synthesis of the previous results. We also discuss the

question of rounding error for the computation of the exclusion polynomial. Moreover, in the case of simple roots we will give a result of bit complexity. Finally, we will also show that a number of $O(d^2(\log d)^2 \log(d\gamma(f)s_0))$ of arithmetic operations is sufficient to isolate the roots of a polynomial using $\lceil \log d \rceil$ steps of the Graeffe iteration. This bound of arithmetic complexity is closed to that of Pan [28] which is $O(d^2 \log d \log(ds_0/r))$ with our notations. Finally, Section 10 is devoted to practical comments and numerical experiments.

2. Context and links with related works

This type of bisection-exclusion algorithm appears for the first time in a paper of Weyl [33] without study of the cost of this algorithm. This task is realized by Gargantini and Henrici in [15], where the authors study four different exclusion tests only in the polynomial case. We focus on their tests T_2 and T_1 . The test T_2 corresponds to the test studied here. In our context of notations, the test T_1 asserts that if $|f(x)| > d(1 + \sqrt{2})^{d-1} s_0 \sqrt{2}s$ then the square S(x, s) included in S_0 does not contain any root of the polynomial f. The test T_1 requires no more than $16d\pi \left(\frac{2^{5/2}d}{sep}\right)^{2d-2}$ tests to isolate the p roots contained in a disk of radius

one, [15, p. 92, formula (3)–(11)], where *sep* is the minimal separation distance of zeros. Concerning the test T_2 , these authors show that the test T_2 is at least as effective that test T_1 , [15, p. 95]: "Although the convergence estimates do not show it, the test T_2 is asymptotically likely to be much more effective than $T_1 \dots$ ". Although, the case of exact multiple roots is considered for the test T_1 , the global behavior of tests T_1 and T_2 is only studied without estimates of the local behavior of these tests.

Thereafter, several authors gave modifications and improvements by combining it with other method like Newton method or other exclusion tests like Schur–Cohn test and Turan's test: see [27,28] for a precise review on this subject. In this vein, the report of Schönhage [30] is certainly the first significant paper which deals with the splitting circle method. The previous papers are devoted to polynomials. In [38,39], the authors propose to count the number of zeros of an analytic function thanks to a reliable test based on the argument principle, see also [34,35]. But the algorithms are given without precise study of complexity.

From a point of view of some practitioners in the scientific and engineering communities, these bisection-exclusion-type methods are frequently used when the number of variables is small. For example to draw implicit curves or surfaces, these methods are easy to implement, see [32]. They are also used in many areas: in dynamical systems [13,14], in the localization of solutions of systems of equations [9,19–21] and in optimization [1,22].

Our aim in this paper was to study more precisely the complexity of the bisectionexclusion algorithm using an exclusion test based on the Taylor formula without seeking to optimize or to link with other methods. The analysis we propose uses α -theory of Smale [31] and its generalization for multiple roots [36]. This technical background permits to obtain precise results in an efficient way since the complexity is described with respect to invariant quantities which depend only on the zeros. Indeed, we have focused our study on the link between this algorithm and the geometry of zeros and this paper is the theoretical answer to a unpublished report [11], see also [10]. A more recent study to fast compute clusters of zeros has been done by the author in collaboration with others [16]. The results of this previous paper can be used to link in a robust manner a method of global localization of zeros like bisection-exclusion with Newton generalized method.

3. The exclusion function

The study of the complexity depends on the existence of an exclusion function defined in the following statement (see [9]).

Theorem and Definition 3.1. The following implicit function $x \in \mathbb{C} \to m(x) \in \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by

$$M(x, m(x)) = 0$$

exists. Moreover m(x) is a continuous function. If $M(x, \sqrt{2}s) > 0$ then f has no zero in the square S(x, s). Moreover $M(x, \sqrt{2}s) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \sqrt{2}s < m(x)$. It is why we will say m(x) is the exclusion function associated to f at x.

Proof. Let *d* be an integer. Then we have $M(x,t) \leq |f(x)| - \sum_{k=1}^{d} \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!} t^k$. Since the analytic function *f* is defined on \mathbb{C} it follows that $\lim_{t\to\infty} M(x,t) = -\infty$. The real function $t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \to M(x,t) \in]-\infty$, |f(x)|] is strictly decreasing. There is only one positive zero and the existence of m(x) is established. The continuity of m(x) can be proved in the following way (see [9]). For $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x, y \in \mathbb{C}$, the decreasing of M(x, t) with respect *t* implies: $M(x, m(x) + \varepsilon) < M(x, m(x)) = M(y, m(y)) = 0 < M(x, m(x) - \varepsilon)$. From the continuity of M(x, t) with respect *x*, there exits a neighborhood of *x* such that for all *y* lying in this neighborhood we have $M(y, m(x) + \varepsilon) < M(x, m(x)) = M(y, m(y)) = 0$ or $M(y, m(x) - \varepsilon)$. Always from the decreasing of M(x, t) with respect *t* it follows $m(x) - \varepsilon < m(y) < m(x) + \varepsilon$. The continuity of m(x) is established. Let $z \in S(x, s)$. From Taylor's formula and the triangle inequality we get $|f(z)| \ge M(x, |z-x|) \ge M(x, \sqrt{2}s)$. Hence if $M(x, \sqrt{2}s) > 0$ then *f* has no zero in the square S(x, s).

Finally since M(x, t) decreases, it implies $M(x, \sqrt{2}s) > M(x, m(x)) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \sqrt{2}s < m(x)$. \Box

This previous result shows that the complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm depends on the behavior of the exclusion function m(x). In the polynomial case this exclusion function is equivalent to the distance function in the following sense, see [17, p. 457]:

$$2^{1/d} - 1 \leqslant \frac{m(x)}{d(x,Z)} \leqslant 1,\tag{5}$$

where d(x, Z) is the distance function from x to Z. Hence, the question to know a lower bound of the exclusion function is fundamental to analyze the complexity of the bisectionexclusion algorithm. Indeed this complexity is less than that of the algorithm which uses this lower bound as exclusion test. Our analysis is based on this property.

In the analytic case, it seems that there is not any reference for such a lower bound. This is why in Section 6 we will perform a general analysis on the behavior of m(x).

4. Theoretical complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm

We will suppose that the analytic function defined on \mathbb{C} has p clusters $\overline{D}_i := D_{m_i}(\zeta_i, \rho_i)$ inside the square S_0 with $\rho_i > 0$, $\zeta_i \in S_0$, $1 \le i \le p$. As in the introduction the ζ_i 's are zeros of f. Let $\rho = \max_i \rho_i$. Intuitively ρ_i 's are small with respect to the precision ε . The results will specify this fact. We recall that Z is the zeros' set of f. Evidently, we have always $m(x) \le d(x, Z)$ for all $x \in S_0$. In this section, we will suppose that the exclusion function m(x) associated to f satisfies the four following assumptions H1–H4 below.

The global behavior of m(x) in the initial square is described by the following: there exists a > 0, such that

(H1) $\forall x \in S_0, \quad ad(x, Z) \leq m(x).$

The local behavior of exclusion closed to a cluster of zeros \overline{D}_i is described in the following way: we will assume for all $i, 1 \le i \le p$, there exists $a_i > 0, r > \rho_i$, such that

(H2) $\forall x \in D(\zeta_i, r) \setminus \overline{D}_i, \quad a_i d(x, \zeta_i) \leq m(x).$

(H3) $\forall i \neq k, \quad D(\zeta_i, r) \cap D(\zeta_k, r) = \emptyset.$

It is a natural way to suppose that

(H4) We will denote $a \leq a_i, \quad 1 \leq i \leq p.$ $b = 1 + \frac{1}{2}.$

2.
$$b_i = 1 + \frac{1}{a_i}, \quad 1 \leq i \leq p.$$

From (H4) it follows $b \ge b_i$.

The set Z_{ε} is a set of squares S(x, s) for which Exclusion(S) = False or equivalently $m(x) \leq s\sqrt{2}$. Such squares are called retained squares. We say that an exclusion test has level $k \geq 0$ when the size of the square is $s_0/2^k$. We define the integers p_k and q_k as the numbers of *True* and *False*, respectively, at level k. We have clearly

1. $p_0 = 0, q_0 = 1.$ 2. $p_k + q_k = 4q_{k-1}, k \ge 1.$

Finally, we need to introduce q(b) as the number of squares with size *s* strictly included in a disk of radius $\sqrt{2}bs$. This number q(b) is independent of *s*, see Lemma 4.2.

The bounds on the distance of retained squares to Z, the number q_{ε} of retained squares and the total number Q_{ε} of exclusion tests are given by the following:

Theorem 4.1. Using the previous notations, let us suppose that (H1)–(H4) hold. Moreover let us also require $4\sqrt{2}b\rho < r$. Let us consider the two integers $j_0 = \left[\log \frac{\sqrt{2}bs_0}{r}\right]$ and

 $j_1 = \left\lfloor \log \frac{s_0}{\rho} \right\rfloor$. We then have $j_0 < j_1$. Let ε be a precision satisfying $\frac{s_0}{2^j} \leq \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j-1}}$, where $j_0 < j < j_1$. Then Z_{ε} is a union of p pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$, such that $\overline{D}_i \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset D(\zeta_i, r)$. Let $q_{\varepsilon,i}$ be the number of retained squares in $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. We then have

- 1. For all $x \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$, $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq \sqrt{2}b_i \varepsilon$, $1 \leq i \leq p$.
- 2. $q_{\varepsilon,i} \leqslant q(b_i) \leqslant \frac{\pi}{2} b_i^2, 1 \leqslant i \leqslant p.$

3.
$$Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 4j_0 pq(b) + 4(j - j_0) \sum_{i=1}^{p} q(b_i).$$

Proof. Let us recall that log is the logarithm to base 2. From $4\sqrt{2}b\rho < r$, it follows $\log\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}bs_0}{r}\right) + 2 < \log\frac{s_0}{\rho}$. Hence $j_0 < j_1$. Let us show that the output set Z_{ε} of the bisection-exclusion algorithm is a union of p pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ each one containing a cluster of zeros. We first prove we need j_0 steps in the algorithm for that the distance from all point belonging to a retained square at the set Z is less than r. Let $s_k = \frac{s_0}{2^k}$ and $S := S(x, s_k)$ be a non-excluded square at a level $k \leq j_0$. From (H1), we have

$$ad(x, Z) \leq m(x) \leq s_k \sqrt{2}.$$

Since $\varepsilon < s_k$ we get for all $z \in S$,

$$d(z, Z) \leqslant d(z, x) + d(x, Z) \leqslant bs_k \sqrt{2}.$$
(6)

Let us consider $\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} D\left(\zeta_i, b\sqrt{2s_k}\right)$. We know from Lemma 4.2 below, the number of squares

with size s_k in each disk $D(\zeta_i, b\sqrt{2}s_k)$ is bounded by $q(b) \leq \frac{\pi}{2}b^2$. Hence, the number q_k of retained squares at level k is bounded by

$$q_k \leqslant pq(b) \leqslant \frac{\pi}{2} pb^2. \tag{7}$$

The index j_0 has been selected so that for all z belonging to a retained square S the inequality

$$\frac{\sqrt{2}s_0b}{2^{j_0}} \leqslant r \tag{8}$$

holds. From (H3) it follows that the *p* clusters of roots are contained in *p* pairwise disjoint sets. Let us make $j_0 = k$ in (6). We obtain $d(z, Z) \leq r$. Hence, at level *j*, $j_0 < j < j_1$, we have also $d(z, Z) \leq r$. Since the $D(\zeta_i, r)'s$ are pairwise disjoint disks, the set Z_{ε} will be an

union of *p* pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset D(\zeta_i, r)$, $1 \leq i \leq p$. Moreover, from construction of the bisection-exclusion algorithm, one has $Z \cap \overline{D}_i \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. From definition of j_1 the inequalities $2\rho < \frac{s_0}{2j_1-1} \leq \varepsilon$ imply $\overline{D}_i \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i}$;

Let us now prove the 1. We bound $d(z, \zeta_i)$ for any z in a retained square $S(x, s_j)$ at level j included in $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. For that there are two cases. First, if x lies in $D(\zeta_i, r) \setminus \overline{D_i}$ it follows:

$$d(z,\zeta_i) \leq d(z,x) + d(x,Z).$$

Since $a_i d(x, \zeta_i) \leq m(x) \leq s_j \sqrt{2}$ we get

$$d(z,\zeta_i) \leqslant b_i s_j \sqrt{2}.$$

Next, if $x \in \overline{D}_i$ then since $\rho_i < s_j$ it implies $\zeta_i \in S(x, s_j)$. Hence

$$d(z,\zeta_i) \leqslant d(z,x) + d(x,\zeta_i) \leqslant s_j \sqrt{2} + \rho_i.$$

It follows $d(z, \zeta_i) \leq \max(b_i s_j \sqrt{2}, s_j \sqrt{2} + \rho_i)$. But, by definition $a_i \leq 1$ and $b_i = 1 + 1/a_i \geq 2$. The inequalities $\frac{s_j \sqrt{2}}{a_i} > \frac{\rho \sqrt{2}}{a_i} \geq \frac{\rho_i \sqrt{2}}{a_i} > \rho_i$ imply $s_j \sqrt{2} + \rho_i < b_i s_j \sqrt{2}$. Finally $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq b_i s_j \sqrt{2}$.

Let us prove the 2. We have $b_i s_j \sqrt{2} \leq b \sqrt{2} s_{j_0} \leq r$. Hence $Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset D(\zeta_i, b_i \sqrt{2} s_j) \subset D(\zeta_i, r)$. Using Lemma 4.2 below, we then can bound the number $q_{\varepsilon,i}$ of retained squares at level *j* contained in $D(\zeta_i, b_i \sqrt{2} s_j)$. We obtain

$$q_{\varepsilon,i} \leqslant q(b_i) \leqslant \frac{\pi}{2} b_i^2. \tag{9}$$

To prove the 3, let us remember we have $p_0 + q_0 = 1$ and $p_k + q_k = 4q_{k-1}$ for $k \ge 1$. Then using the bounds (7) and (9) on the q_k 's, we find a bound for the total number Q_{ε} of exclusion tests is

$$Q_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{k=0}^{j} p_{k} + q_{k} = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{j} 4q_{k-1} \leq 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{j_{0}} 4q_{k-1} + \sum_{k=j_{0}+1}^{j} 4q_{k-1}$$
$$\leq 1 + 4j_{0}pq(b) + 4(j-j_{0})\sum_{i=1}^{p} q(b_{i}).$$

We are done. \Box

Remark. From Lemma 4.2 we also have $Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 2\pi j_0 p b^2 + 2\pi (j - j_0) \sum_{i=1}^p b_i^2$.

We now state the lemma used in the previous result on the number of squares that is possible to include in a closed disk. The bound $q(b) \leq \frac{\pi b^2}{2}$ is easy to prove. But we need a better bound to theoretically explain the numerical results shown in the introduction.

Lemma 4.2. Let $r > 0, b \ge 2, 0 \le s, t \le 2$ be real numbers. Let us introduce the quantities:

1.
$$q_k(b, s, t) = \left\lfloor \frac{\sqrt{2b^2 - (2k+t)^2} - s}{2} \right\rfloor.$$

2. $k_1(b, s, t) = \min_{k_1(b, s, t)} (q_0(b, t, s), q_0(b, t, 2 - s)).$
3. $\bar{q}_1(b, s, t) = \sum_{k=1}^{k_1(b, s, t)} q_k(b, s, t) + q_k(b, -s, t).$

We then have

1. The number of squares of size r included in a closed disk of radius $\sqrt{2}br$ is equal to

$$q(b) = 1 + \max_{0 \le s, t \le 2} \left(k_1(b, t, s) + k_1(b, t, 2 - s) + \bar{q}_1(b, s, t) + \bar{q}_1(b, s, 2 - t) \right).$$

2. $q(b) \leq \frac{\pi b^2}{2}$.

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.1. \Box

In the sequel, we will be interested to bound $q(b_m)$ with $b_m = 1 + \frac{1}{2^{1/m} - 1}$. For that we have

Lemma 4.3.

- 1. For $m \ge 4$ we have $b_m \le 2\sqrt{2/\pi m}$.
- 2. For $m \ge 1$ we have $b_m \le 2m$.
- 3. For $\mu < \sqrt{5} 2 \sim 0.23607$ we have $q(b_1 + \mu) = q(b_1) = 4$.
- 4. Let $m \ge 1$. Then we have $q(b_m) \le 4m^2$.

Proof. The derivative of the function $m \in [1, +\infty[\rightarrow b_m \in [2, +\infty[$ is $b'_m = \frac{2^{1/m} \log(2)}{(2^{1/m}-1)^2 m^2}$. It is a strictly increasing function from $2 \log(2)$ to $1/\log(2)$. Since $2\sqrt{2/\pi} > 1/\log(2)$ the function $m \to b_m - 2\sqrt{2/\pi} m$ decreases. Then the inequalities $b_4 - 2\sqrt{2/\pi} \times 4 < 0 < b_3 - 2\sqrt{2/\pi} \times 3$ imply the part 1.

Since $b_1 = 2$ and the function $m \rightarrow b_m - 2m$ decreases also, the part 2 follows.

Taking $\mu < \sqrt{5} - b_1$, a straightforward numerical computation from Lemma 4.2, part 1 gives the part 3. The value $\mu = \sqrt{5} - 2$ is not convenient because $q(\sqrt{5}) = 5$.

For the part 4 we first prove $q(b_m) \leq 4m^2$ for m = 1, 2, 3, thanks to Lemma 4.2, part 1. We find, respectively, $q(b_1) = q(2) = 4$, $q(b_2) = 12 \leq 16$, $q(b_3) = 27 \leq 36$. Next for $m \geq 4$, thanks to $b_m \leq 2\sqrt{2/\pi}m$ and Lemma 4.2, part 2, we get $q(b_m) \leq 4m^2$. We are done. \Box

5. Geometry of zeros

The complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm is related to the geometry of zeros of the analytic function f. By geometry of zeros we mean mainly the separation number which is the minimum distance between two distinct zeros. Since this algorithm isolates the zeros, it is a natural way to describe the complexity in terms of a lower bound of the separation number. For polynomials, a result established in [7,36] states:

Theorem 5.1. Let ζ be a simple root of a polynomial f. We have

$$\min_{\substack{f(w)=0,\,\zeta\neq w}} |\zeta-w| > \frac{1}{2\gamma(f;\zeta)}$$

But this result holds in the analytic case. Here, it is more convenient to reformulate the notion of separation number from the point of view of clusters of zeros.

Definition 5.2. Let \overline{D}_i , $1 \le i \le p$, the clusters of zeros of an analytic function f defined on \mathbb{C} . We denote by $sep(f, \zeta_i, m_i) = \min\{|\zeta_i - w| : w \notin \overline{D}_i, f(w) = 0\}$. The separation number is defined by $sep(f) = \min_{\substack{1 \le i \le p \\ 1 \le i \le p \\ }} sep(f, \zeta_i, m_i)$.

Evidently, we need a lower bound of this separation number to quantify the step of the bisection-exclusion algorithm from which all the clusters are contained in pairwise disjoint subsets of squares. Such a bound has been given in [37] in the polynomial case. We will give the proof of this result in the analytic case.

Theorem 5.3. Let $D(\zeta, \rho)$ be an open disk. We note $\beta_m := \beta_m(f; \zeta), \gamma_m := \gamma_m(f; \zeta)$ and $\alpha_m := \alpha_m(f; \zeta)$. Let us suppose $\rho = 3\beta_m$ and $9\alpha_m \leq 1$. Then

- 1. The analytic function f has m zeros (counting multiplicities) in $D(\zeta, \rho)$.
- 2. $sep(f, \zeta, m) > \frac{1}{2\gamma_m} \frac{3}{2}\beta_m$.

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.2. \Box

6. Behavior of the exclusion function

We now describe the behavior of the exclusion function in the square S_0 . As we can see it on the figures of the introduction we will distinguish a global behavior and a local behavior of the exclusion function.

6.1. Local behavior

The result is the exclusion function closed to a cluster of *m* zeros has the same behavior of the exclusion function associated to the polynomial x^m .

Proposition 6.1. We have $M_{x^m}(x, t) = 2|x|^m - (t + |x|)^m$ and the exclusion function associated to x^m is equal to $(2^{1/m} - 1)|x|$.

Proof. It is an easy computation. \Box

Theorem 6.2. Let $\overline{D}_m(\zeta, \rho)$ be a cluster of zeros of f with $f(\zeta) = 0$ and $\rho = \left(\frac{\beta_m(f;\zeta)}{\gamma_m(f;\zeta)}\right)^{1/2}$. Let $r > \rho$ be such that the quantity $u = \gamma_m(f;\zeta)r$ verifies $L_{m,\delta}(u) < 1$, where $\delta = 1$ if $\beta_m(f;\zeta) \neq 0$ and $\delta = 0$ if $\beta_m(f;\zeta) = 0$. Then

$$\forall x \in D(\zeta, r) \setminus \overline{D}_m(\zeta, \rho), \quad (2 - L_{m,\delta}(u))^{\frac{1}{m}} - 1 \leq \frac{m(x)}{|x - \zeta|} \leq 1.$$

In particular if m = 1 and $u \leq \frac{1}{6}$, we have

$$1 - L_1(u) = \frac{1 - 6u}{1 - 2u} \leqslant \frac{m(x)}{|x - \zeta|} \leqslant 1.$$

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.3. \Box

Proposition 6.3.

- 1. The function $u \to L_{m,\delta}(u)$ increases on [0, 1/2[with $L_{m,\delta}(0) = 0$ and $\lim_{u \to 1/2} L_{m,\delta}(u) = +\infty$.
- 2. For $u \in [0, 1/2[$ the function $m \to L_{m,\delta}(u)$ increases.
- 3. Let $\bar{u}_{m,\delta}$ the first positive zero of the equation $L_{m,1}(u) = 1$. The sequence $(\bar{u}_{m,\delta})_{m \ge 0}$ decreases to 0.
- 4. $\bar{u}_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} = 0.14 \text{ and } \bar{u}_{1,0} = \frac{1}{6}.$

Proof. The proof is easy. \Box

6.2. Global behavior

We now generalize the lower bound of the inequality given in Theorems 6.4(d) and 6.4(i) of [17], in the analytic case.

Proposition 6.4. Let f be an analytic function defined on \mathbb{C} which has d zeros z_1, \ldots, z_d in the square S_0 . Let us consider $g(z) = \prod_{k=1}^d (z - z_k)$ and h(z) the analytic function such that f(z) = g(z)h(z). Let us suppose that the requirements (1) and (2) of the introduction hold. Then, for any $x \in S_0$ the exclusion function m(x) associated to f satisfies the inequality

$$\frac{2^{1/d} - 1}{\frac{3^d \lambda}{\tau} (2^{1/d} - 1) + 1} \leqslant \frac{m(x)}{d(x, Z)}.$$

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.4. \Box

7. Proofs of the main theorems

7.1. Proof of Theorem 1.1

For that it is sufficient to verify the assumptions of Theorem 4.1. From Proposition 6.4 the assumption (H1) is verified with $a = \frac{2^{1/d} - 1}{\frac{3^d \lambda}{\tau}(2^{1/d} - 1) + 1}$ and $b \ge b_d(0) + \frac{3^d \lambda}{\tau}$. We let $\beta_{m_i} := \beta_{m_i}(f; \zeta_i), \ \gamma_{m_i} = \gamma_{m_i}(f; \zeta_i), \ \alpha_{m_i} = \alpha_{m_i}(f; \zeta_i)$ and $u_{m_i} = u_{m_i}(\mu_{m_i})$. We then prove the inequality $\frac{1}{2}sep(f, \zeta_i, m_i) > r$ which implies the $D(\zeta_i, r)$'s are pairwise disjoint disks. We remark u_{m_i} is less than $\bar{u}_{1,0} = \frac{1}{6}$ the zero of $L_1(u) = 1$, see Proposition 6.3. It $\left(\beta_{m_i}(f; \zeta_i)\right)^{1/2}$ $u_{m_i} = \bar{u}_{1,0} = 2$

is easy to see the inequality $\rho_i = \left(\frac{\beta_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)}{\gamma_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)}\right)^{1/2} < r \leq \frac{u_{m_i}}{\gamma_{m_i}} \leq \frac{\bar{u}_{1,0}}{\gamma_{m_i}}$ implies $\alpha_{m_i} < \bar{u}_{1,0}^2$. Using both Theorem 5.3 and the 4 of Proposition 6.3, we then get

$$sep(f, \zeta_i, m_i) - 2r \ge \frac{1}{2\gamma_{m_i}} - \frac{3}{2}\beta_{m_i} - 2r$$
$$\ge \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{2}\overline{u}_{1,0}^2 - 2\overline{u}_{1,0}\right)\frac{1}{\gamma_{m_i}}$$
$$\ge \frac{1}{8\gamma_{m_i}} > 0.$$

Hence the requirement (H3) holds. Let us verify the requirement (H2). For that let us consider $b_i := b_{m_i}(u_{m_i})$. From definition of u_{m_i} we have $L_{m_i,\delta}(u_{m_i}) < 1$. From Theorem 6.2 we know the behavior of the function m(x) in $D(\zeta_i, r) \setminus D_i$. From the definition of *r* it follows $r\gamma_{m_i}(f; \zeta_i) \leq u_{m_i}$ and we can write

$$\forall x \in D(\zeta_i, r) \setminus \bar{D}_i, \quad (2 - L_{m_i}(u_{m_i}))^{1/m_i} - 1 \leqslant \frac{m(x)}{d(x, \zeta_i)}, \quad 1 \leqslant i \leqslant p$$

The requirement H4 holds from the definition of *b*. The requirement 4 implies $j_0 < j_1$. The definitions of μ_{m_i} and u_{m_i} imply $b_i = b_{m_i}(0) + \mu_{m_i}$ and $q(b_i) = q(b_{m_i}(0))$. Since Lemma 4.3 establishes both $b_{m_i}(0) \leq 2m_i$ and $q(b_{m_i}(0)) \leq 4m_i^2$, the parts 1 and 2 follow easily.

Finally for the part 3, Theorem 4.1 applies in the right way under these considerations using $q(b) \leq 4D^2$. We are done. \Box

Remark. The assumption $q(b_i) = q(b_{m_i}(u_{m_i})) = q(b_{m_i}(0))$ permits to understand the local behavior of the bisection-exclusion algorithm closed to a cluster of zero. In fact, for all ε such that $\rho_i \ll \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j_0}}$, the number of retained squares will be constant. On the other hand, if $\varepsilon \leq \rho_i$ it is necessary to consider the clusters of zeros inside the initial cluster. Roughly speaking, the algorithm see the cluster of zeros as a multiple zero until a certain scale.

7.2. Proof of Theorem 1.2

Now the analytic function f has only simple zeros z_1, \ldots, z_d . We apply Theorem 1.1 with the following values: m = 1, $\rho = 0$, $b_1(0) = 2$, and $q(b_1(0)) = 4$ (see Lemma 4.2). The value of μ_1 is given by a solution of the equation $q(2 + \mu) = 4$. From Lemma 4.3 we can choose $\mu_1 = 0.236$. The zero $u_1(\mu_1)$ of the equation $b_1(u) = b_1(0) + \mu_1$ is given by

$$L_1(u) = \frac{4u}{1 - 2u} = 1 - \frac{1}{\mu_1 + 1}.$$

We find $u_1(\mu_1) \ge \frac{1}{23}$. Then we select $r = \frac{1}{23\gamma(f;\zeta_i)}$. Since $b_d(0) \ge 1 + \frac{1}{2^{1/2} - 1} \ge 3.4 > b_1(0) + \mu_1 \sim 2.236$, we choose $b = b_d(0) + \frac{\lambda 3^d}{\tau}$ and $b_i = b_1(0) + \mu_1$. From Lemma 4.3 we have successively $b \le 2d + \frac{\lambda 3^d}{\tau}$ and $b_1(0) = 2$. We also have $sep(f;\zeta_i) - 2r \ge \frac{1}{2\gamma(f;\zeta_i)} - \frac{2}{23\gamma(f;\zeta_i)} > 0$.

Then Theorem 1.1 applies under these considerations. It follows the value of $j_0 = \left\lceil \log \left(23\sqrt{2}(2d + \frac{\lambda 3^d}{\tau})\gamma(f)s_0 \right) \right\rceil$ and the bounds given in the parts 1–3. We are done. \Box

8. Bisection-exclusion algorithm for nearly real zeros

In the real case the bisection-exclusion algorithm works in the same way but intervals replace the squares. To study the complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm, we must hold into account the complex zeros closed to the real axis. An interval I(x, s) is represented by its center x and its length 2s. Let $I_0 := I(x_0, s_0)$. We also suppose that there are p clusters of zeros $\overline{D}_{m_i}(\zeta_i, \rho_i), 1 \le i \le p$, such that $f(\zeta_i) = 0$ and $\overline{I_i} := \overline{D}_{m_i}(\zeta_i, \rho_i) \cap I_0$. We will say the analytic function has p nearly real clusters of zeros in the interval I_0 . The exclusion test for an interval I(x, s) becomes

$$Exclusion(I(x, s)) = True \Leftrightarrow M(x, s) > 0.$$

In fact, proving Theorem 3.1 in the real case, it is easy to see the factor $\sqrt{2}$ does not appear. Let us suppose

(H5) $\forall x \in I_0, \quad ad(x, Z) \leq m(x) \leq d(x, Z).$

With the same notations as in Section 4 we can state

Theorem 8.1. Let f be an analytic function defined on \mathbb{C} which has p nearly real clusters of zeros in the interval I_0 . Let us suppose that the assumptions (H2)–(H5) hold. Let us also suppose $4b\rho < r$. Let us introduce the two integers $j_0 = \left\lceil \log \frac{bs_0}{r} \right\rceil$ and $j_1 = \left\lfloor \log \frac{s_0}{\rho} \right\rfloor$.

We then have $j_1 < j_0$. Let also ε be a precision satisfying $\frac{s_0}{2^j} \leq \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j-1}}$ with $j_0 < j < j_1$. Then Z_{ε} is a union of p pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$, such that $\overline{I_i} \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset I(\zeta_i, r)$. Let $q_{\varepsilon,i}$ be the number of retained intervals in $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. We then have

1. For all $x \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq b_i \varepsilon$, $1 \leq i \leq p$. 2. $q_{\varepsilon,i} \leq \lfloor b_i \rfloor$, $1 \leq i \leq p$. 3. $Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 2j_0 p \lfloor b \rfloor + 2(j - j_0) \sum_{i=1}^p \lfloor b_i \rfloor$.

Proof. See the Appendix A.5. \Box

To state a more precise result, we proceed as in the introduction. For that we introduce $u_m(\mu_m)$ the first positive zero of

$$b_m(u) = b_m(0) + \mu_m,$$

where μ_m satisfies

$$\forall \mu \leqslant \mu_m, \quad \lfloor b_m(0) + \mu \rfloor = \lfloor b_m(0) \rfloor.$$

With this new definition of μ_m and u_m , we now suppose that the *p* clusters of zeros are gathered such that the above requirements are satisfied.

$$\rho_i = \left(\frac{\beta_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)}{\gamma_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)}\right)^{1/2},\tag{10}$$

$$4b\rho < r = \min_{1 \le i \le p} \frac{u_{m_i}(\mu_{m_i})}{\gamma_{m_i}(f;\zeta_i)},\tag{11}$$

where $\rho = \max_{i} \rho_i, \bar{b} = \max_{1 \le i \le p} b_{m_i}(0) + \mu_{m_i}$ and $b = \max\left(b_d(0) + \frac{3^d \lambda}{\tau}, \bar{b}\right)$.

Let us also suppose that the λ and τ verify (1) and

$$2\tau s_0 \leqslant \frac{1}{2}.\tag{12}$$

We have

Theorem 8.2. Let us consider an analytic function f defined on \mathbb{C} which has p nearly real clusters of zeros in the interval I_0 . Let us suppose that the requirements (1), (10), and (11), (12) hold. Let us introduce the two following integers $j_0 = \left\lceil \log \frac{bs_0}{r} \right\rceil$ and $j_1 = \left\lfloor \log \frac{s_0}{\rho} \right\rfloor$. We then have $j_0 < j_1$. Let ε be a precision verifying $\frac{s_0}{2j} \leq \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j-1}}$ with $j_0 < j < j_1$. Then the output set Z_{ε} of the bisection-exclusion algorithm is a union of p pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ such that $\overline{I}_i \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset I(\zeta_i, r)$. Let $q_{\varepsilon,i}$ the number of intervals in $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. We then have

1. For all
$$x \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$$
, $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq (2m_i + \mu_{m_i})\varepsilon$, $1 \leq i \leq p$.

2. $q_{\varepsilon,i} \leq 2m_i$, $1 \leq i \leq p$. 3. $Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 4j_0 pD + 4(j - j_0)p$, where D satisfies $b \leq 1 + \frac{1}{2^{1/D} - 1}$.

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 1.1. \Box

In the particular case where the ζ_i 's are simple nearly real zeros we state

Theorem 8.3. Let us consider an analytic function f defined on \mathbb{C} which has p simple nearly real zeros ζ_i , $1 \leq i \leq p$, in the interval I_0 . Let $j_0 = \left\lceil \log_2 \left(11(2d + \frac{\lambda 3^d}{\tau})\gamma(f)s_0 \right) \right\rceil$ and ε be a precision verifying $\frac{s_0}{2^j} \leq \varepsilon < \frac{s_0}{2^{j-1}}$ with $j_0 < j$. Then the output set Z_{ε} of the bisection-exclusion algorithm is a union of p pairwise disjoint sets $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ such that $\zeta_i \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$, $1 \leq i \leq p$. Moreover, the following estimations hold:

1. For all $x \in Z_{\varepsilon,i}$, $d(x, \zeta_i) \leq 3\varepsilon$, $1 \leq i \leq p$.

- 2. Each $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ contains at most two intervals, $1 \leq i \leq p$.
- 3. $Q_{\varepsilon} \leq 1 + 4j_0 p D + 4(j j_0) p$,

where D satisfies $b_d(0) + \frac{3^d \lambda}{\tau} \leq 1 + \frac{1}{2^{1/D} - 1}$.

Proof. The proof is performed in the same way as the proof of Theorem 1.2. We only explain the factor 11 in the value of j_0 . We have $\rho = 0$, m = 1 and $b_1(0) = 2$. The value μ_1 is bounded by 1 and the zero $u_1(\mu)$ of the equation $b_1(\mu) = b_1(0) + \mu$ satisfies

$$\frac{4u}{1-2u} = 1 - \frac{1}{\mu_1 + 1} < \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence $u < \frac{1}{10}$. We select r so that $u_1(\mu_1) < \frac{1}{10}$, i.e; $r = \frac{1}{11\gamma(f)}$.

9. The polynomial case

Here f is a polynomial of degree d.

9.1. Complexity for the localization of complex roots

Theorem 1.1 holds with $\lambda = 0$ and D = d. In the simple roots case, the term $16j_0dD^2 \in O(d^3 \log(d\gamma(f)s_0))$ in Q_{ε} gives the number of exclusion tests to isolate the roots. The next term $16d(j - j_0) \in O(d \log d)$ in Q_{ε} gives the number of tests when the algorithm works closed to the roots. Then the number of arithmetic operations is bounded by $O(d^5 \log(20\gamma(f) ds_0))$ or $O(d^4 \log(d) \log(20\gamma(f) ds_0))$ according to the generalized

Horner scheme [17, p. 435] or the fast Fourier transform algorithm [3, p. 36] is used to numerically evaluate all the quantities $f^{(k)}(x)/k!$'s. Note these bounds can be computed only a posteriori since $\gamma(f)$ depends on the roots.

9.2. Complexity for the localization of simple real roots

Let us consider a polynomial which has p simple real roots in the interval I_0 . We then have $\lambda = 0$ and D = d. The real bisection-exclusion algorithm needs $4pd \log (22\gamma(f) ds_0)$ exclusion tests to isolate the roots. Hence, the number of arithmetic operations is bounded by $O(pd^3 \log (22\gamma(f) ds_0))$ or $O(pd^2 \log(d) \log (22\gamma(f) ds_0))$ according to the generalized Horner scheme [17] or fast Fourier transform algorithm [3] is used to numerically evaluate all the quantities $\frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!}$'s. Others methods to isolate simple real roots of polynomials are based on the Descartes rule of signs. In [6], the authors obtained an arithmetic complexity when the polynomials are expressed in the monomial basis. Further improvements can be found in [25, Theorem 2.1], where the Bernstein basis is used to represent polynomials. More precisely, the number of arithmetic operations is in $O(d(d+1)r(\log\left(\frac{5d}{2sep}\right)$ log(r) + 4) where r is the number of sign changes of the Bernstein coefficients' sequence. The gain of a factor d comes from the isolation algorithm does not split the interval when the number of sign changes of the Bernstein sequence does not exceed 1. Consequently, the retained intervals are different sizes contrary to those of the bisection-exclusion algorithm described here. Let us add that in [2] the authors study the bit complexity of these real root isolation algorithms. Moreover a recent report [24], using ideas developed in [29], gives an algorithm which improves this bit complexity.

9.3. Rounding error analysis and bit-complexity

In this section f is a complex polynomial of degree d. We let $f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{d} f_k x^k$ and

 $\frac{\tilde{f}^{(k)}(x)}{k!} = \sum_{j=0}^{d-k} {d \choose k} |f_{k+j}| x^j, 0 \le k \le d.$ We introduce for a complex number *x* the quantity $|x|_1^2 = 1 + |x|^2$ where $|x|^2 = x\bar{x}$. We defined a norm on the linear space of the complex polynomials of degree *d* by $||f||^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{d} {d \choose k}^{-1} |a_k|^2$, see [4, p. 218]. In this section only, we will use the notation $u = \frac{1}{2}\beta^{1-n}$, where β and *n* are, respectively, the base and the precision of the floating point number system. We perform a rigorous rounding error analysis of the evaluation of the exclusion polynomial. To do that, we deal with the standard arithmetic model for the floating point numbers [18, p. 44]. Let us consider the generalized Horner scheme to evaluate the derivatives. Let f_k the floating point number of $|f^{(k)}(x)|/k!$. In this model we know there exists δ_k , such that $\left|\frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!}\right| = f_k(1+\delta_k), 0 \le k \le d$. We then

have

$$M(x,t) = f_0 - \sum_{k=1}^{d} f_k t^k - \sum_{k=0}^{d} \delta_k t^k.$$

Consequently if $f_0 - \sum_{k=1}^d f_k t^k > \sum_{k=0}^d |\delta_k| t^k$ then M(x, t) > 0. The question is: what is the precision *n* in the floating point number system to have $\sum_{k=0}^d |\delta_k| t^k \leq \varepsilon$ where ε is a given real

number?

Proposition 9.1. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $h = \max_{0 \le k \le d} |a_k|$.

Then for
$$n = \left\lceil \log_{\beta} \left(\frac{3\beta}{8\varepsilon} (2\sqrt{3}h2^d |x|_1^d + (d-1)\varepsilon) \right) \right\rceil$$
, we have $\sum_{k=0}^d |\delta_k| t^k \leq \varepsilon$. Hence a precision of ε on the computation of $M(x, t)$ is performed with $O\left(d \log\left(\frac{h|x|_1}{\varepsilon}\right)\right)$ bits of

precision.

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.6.

9.4. Bit complexity

For sake of simplicity, we will suppose that the polynomial f only has simple roots. We introduce Σ the variety of polynomials of degree d which have a multiple root and Σ_x the variety of polynomials of degree d which have x as multiple root. We note by $d(f, \Sigma)$ (respectively, $d(f, \Sigma_x)$) the distance of f to Σ (respectively, Σ_x) for the norm ||f|| defined above. The goal of this section is to link the number of bit we need to isolate the roots of fwith the distance $d(f, \Sigma)$. This question to link the bit complexity with the distance to the ill-posed problems has been studied in a more general setting in [5].

Proposition 9.2. A bound for the number of bits to isolate the roots of the polynomial f is given by

$$\left\lceil \log \left(\frac{23\sqrt{6}\max(1,h)d^{5/2}s_0}{\min(1,d(f,\Sigma))} \right) \right\rceil.$$

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.7. \Box

9.5. Improvement using Graeffe iterates

In this section, we show how to improve the exclusion test given in the introduction. To do that we use the classical Graeffe process which consists in defining the following

polynomial sequence from a given polynomial g:

$$g^{<0>}(z) = g(z),$$

$$g^{}(z) = g^{}(\sqrt{z})g^{}(-\sqrt{z}), \quad N \ge 0.$$

We call $g^{\langle N \rangle}(z)$ the *N*th Graeffe iterate of g(z). This polynomial is also of degree *d*. Each Graeffe iterate can be computed with $d \log d$ arithmetic operations using the fast Fourier transform algorithm [3]. In many papers the Graeffe iterates are a tool for approximating the distance from a point to the roots, see [26,30,12,27]. In [12] we can find the following:

Proposition 9.3. Let f be a polynomial of degree d. For $x \in \mathbb{C}$, let us consider $m^{<N>}(0)$ the exclusion function associated to the Nth Graeffe iterate of g(z) = f(x + z). Namely

$$M^{}(0,t) = |g^{}(0)| - \sum_{k \ge 1}^{d} \frac{|g^{}(0)|}{k!} t^{k}.$$

1. If $M^{<N>}(0, (\sqrt{2}r)^{2^N}) > 0$ then $Z \cap S(x, r) = \emptyset$. 2. We have

$$\left(2^{1/d}-1\right)^{2^{-N}} \leqslant \frac{m^{}(0)}{d(x,Z)} \leqslant 1.$$

Corollary 9.4.

$$0.638\dots = (2^{1/3} - 1)^{1/3} \leqslant \frac{m^{<\lceil \log d \rceil >}(0)}{d(x, Z)} \leqslant 1.$$

Proof. If we take $N = \lceil \log d \rceil$, we have $\frac{m^{\lceil \log d \rceil}(0)}{d(x, Z)} \ge (2^{1/d} - 1)^{1/d}$. An easy study of the function $d \in \mathbb{N} \to (2^{1/d} - 1)^{1/d}$ shows that the minimum of this function is reached for d = 3. Since $(2^{1/3} - 1)^{1/3} \ge 0.638$ the corollary follows. We are done. \Box

The quantity *b* of Section 4 is bounded by $1 + (2^{1/3} - 1)^{-1/3} \sim 2.57 < 3$. Then a straightforward computation shows that $q(b) \leq 6$. From Theorem 4.1, the number of tests of the bisection-exclusion algorithm which use the exclusion polynomial associated to the *d*th Graeffe iterate of g(z) = f(x+z) will be bounded by $O\left(24d \log\left(\frac{3\sqrt{2}s_0}{r}\right)\right)$. Moreover, each step needs $O(d(\log d)^2) + O(d)$ to compute the $\lfloor \log d \rfloor$ th Graeffe iterate $g^{<\lceil \log d \rceil >}(z)$ and to evaluate $M^{<\lceil \log d \rceil >}(0, t)$. In conclusion the number of arithmetic operations is in $O\left(24d^2(\log d)^2 \log\left(\frac{3\sqrt{2}s_0}{r}\right)\right)$. We obtain a gain of a factor d^2 or d^3 compared to the complexity given in the introduction. Compared to the bound of arithmetic complexity given in [28], our bound is multiplied by a factor of $\log d$. The modified Weyl's algorithm of Pan [28] use many ingredients. In particular this algorithm computes Newton sums of

roots of a Graeffe polynomial in order to perform Turan's test and combines the iterations with the generalized Newton method in the case of the multiple roots. All the now classical but tedious techniques of fast computation are used in this modified Weyl's algorithm.

In the case of real root computation, the arithmetic complexity of the bisection-exclusion algorithm using Graeffe iterates is in $O\left(pd(\log d)^2 \log\left(\frac{3s_0}{r}\right)\right)$ which is gain of a factor $d/(\log d)^2$ compared to the result of Mourrain et al. [25].

10. Practical comments, examples and numerical experiments

10.1. Bounds for roots

If we want to locate all the roots of a polynomial $g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{d} g_k z^k$ we need a bound for the roots in order that to determine the initial square S_0 . In the polynomial case there exits many bounds for the modulus of roots: Cauchy bound, Knuth bound etc... can be found in [23] or [17]. Let us remark each one are greater than the positive root of

$$|g_d|t^d - \sum_{k=0}^{d-1} |g_k|t^k,$$

which can be easily approximate by Newton's method.

10.2. Sums of polynomials and exponentials

In the case where the analytic function is $f(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(z) e^{c_i z}$ we show what kind of

exclusion test we use in practice. In fact, we need to truncate the polynomial M(x, t). It is why we will use a new exclusion polynomial $\overline{M}(x, t)$ whose the exclusion function $\overline{m}(x, t)$ defined below has a similar local behavior that of the exclusion function m(x).

Proposition 10.1. Let us consider the analytic function be defined by $f(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(z)e^{c_i z}$,

where the $g_i(z)$'s are complex polynomials and the c_i 's are complex numbers. We note by $\eta_i = |c_i|, d_i$ the degree of $g_i(z)$ and d an integer such that $d \ge \max_i d_i$. We note by $\theta_i(x) =$

$$\frac{1}{(d+1-d_i)!} \left| \sum_{j=0}^{d_i} \frac{g_i^{(j)}(x)}{j!} c_i^{d_i-j} \right|. Let us introduce$$
$$\bar{M}(x,t) = |f(x)| - \sum_{k=1}^d \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!} t^k - \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_i(x) \eta_i^{d+1-d_i} |e^{c_i x}| e^{\eta_i t} t^{d+1}.$$

Let $\bar{m}(x, t)$ the exclusion function associated to f with respect $\bar{M}(x, t)$: $\bar{M}(x, \bar{m}(x)) = 0$.

- 1. Let $r = \sqrt{2} s$. If $\overline{M}(x, r) > 0$ the function f has not zeros in the square S(x, s). Moreover $m(x) > \overline{m}(x)$.
- 2. Let $\bar{D}_m(\zeta, \rho)$ be a cluster of zeros of f such that the assumptions of theorem 6.2 be satisfied and $L_{m,\delta}(u) + \Lambda(x)d(x, Z)^{d+1} < 1$, where $\Lambda(x) = \frac{1}{f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_i(x)\eta_i^{d+1-d_i}$ $|e^{c_i x}|e^{\eta_i d(x,Z)}$. Then

$$\forall x \in D(\zeta, r) \setminus \overline{D}_m(\zeta, \rho), \quad (2 - L_{m,\delta}(u) - \Lambda(x)d(x, Z)^{d+1})^{\frac{1}{m}} - 1 \leq \frac{\overline{m}(x)}{|x - \zeta|} \leq 1.$$

Proof. The proof is done in the Appendix A.8. \Box

The figures of the introduction have been obtained with d = 11 and $f(x) = g_1(x)e^{ix} + g_2(x)e^{-1+2ix}$ where

$$\begin{split} g_1(x) &= -.8689978472263463384182178 - .8850265833480658945418317\,i \\ &+ x + (-.2553311571377752315850749 + .2613419028288941541561861\,i)x^2 \\ &- (.002079364167430515907686434 + .07705099207827323334900161\,i)x^3 \\ &+ (.007137587815057250237863542 + .006481250007739470396595780\,i)x^4 \\ &+ (-.0005927422781839878774265663 + .00004622068385670318923574017\,i)x^5, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} g_2(x) &= .8689978989542825532098086 + .8850268859278433176318700\,i \\ &+ (.7540247256824407372715811 + .01602911065699272739657552\,i)x \\ &+ (.1403575042219709729549892 - .1303398517844059099237165\,i)x^2 \\ &+ (.001410428191710616485978973 - .02429673220963624919224114\,i)x^3 \\ &- (.0008493897415001390619349884 + .001011132693104024141255355\,i)x^4. \end{split}$$

10.3. Polynomial x^m

We perform the bisection-exclusion algorithm with the polynomial $f(x) = x^m$ in the square S(0, s), (respectively, interval I(0, s)), s > 0. A numerical experiment shows that the bound for the number of retained squares is closed to the bound given in Theorem 4.2 computed by Matlab. The Table 1 before gives the number of retained squares (resp., intervals).

10.4. Bisection-exclusion linked with Graeffe iteration

To illustrate how works the improvement given in Section 9 we consider a polynomial of degree 10 which has the same clusters that of the analytic function given in the introduction. If we perform the bisection-exclusion algorithm with the exclusion test of the introduction, we obtain same results as in Fig. 1. Now using the exclusion test associated with the $\lceil \log d \rceil$ th

Table	. 1
тание	

m	Retained squares	$q(b_m(0))$
2	12	12
3	24	27
4	44	46
5	76	76
6	112	112
7	148	151
8	192	198
9	248	256
10	308	313
11	376	382
12	448	454
13	532	540
14	608	621
15	708	716
16	812	813
17	912	920
18	1020	1037
19	1124	1152
20	1272	1280
m	Retained intervals	$\lfloor b_m(0) \rfloor$
2	2	3
3	4	4
4	6	6
5	6	7
6	8	9
7	10	10
8	12	12
9	12	13
10	14	14
11	16	16
12	16	17
13	18	19
14	20	20
15	22	22
16	22	23
17	24	25
18	26	26
19	26	27
20	28	29

Graeffe iterate associated to g(z) = f(x + z) at each step of the algorithm, we obtain the following figure skipping the steps 1 and 2 where all the squares are retained. (Fig. 3).

11. Conclusion and further research

In this paper, we have precisely studied how works the bisection-exclusion algorithm with a test based on the Taylor formula. To do that we have performed the α -theory of Smale. Nevertheless some questions have not been here treated.



Fig. 3.

The first question is to quantify the change of local behavior of the exclusion function near a cluster. This question is related to the behavior of the generalized Newton operator or Schroeder operator near a cluster of root. A precise study of this fact can be found in [16].

The second question is the study of the bit complexity of this algorithm. An answer is to generalize the work of Pardo and its collaborators [5] in the case of clusters of roots. In fact the authors have linked the notion of approximate zeros [31] with the bit complexity in the case of simple roots.

The third question is to construct a fast Graeffe process in the analytic case.

Index of symbols

<i>D</i> 6	S_0 2	$\bar{u}_{m,\delta}$
$I_i \dots \dots 17$	Z2	$\beta_m(f;\zeta)$ 6
$L_1(u) \ldots \ldots 6$	$Z_{\varepsilon} \dots \dots 3$	δ
$L_{m,\delta}$ 6	$Z_{\varepsilon,i}$ 7	ε3
M(x,t)3	$\alpha_m(f;\zeta)\ldots\ldots 6$	$\eta_i \dots 24$
$M^{}(0,t)\ldots 22$	$\bar{D}_i \ldots \ldots 6$	$\gamma_m(f;\zeta)\ldots\ldots 6$
Q_{ε}	$\bar{D}_{m_i}(\zeta_i,\rho_i)\ldots\ldots 6$	λ5

μ_m	$d_i \dots \dots 23$	$q(b) \ldots 10, 12$
ρ5, 17	$f \dots 2$	$q_1(b, s, t) \dots \dots 12$
$\rho_i \ldots \ldots 5, 17$	g(z)	q_{ε}
τ5	$g_1(x)$ 4	$q_k \ldots \ldots \ldots 10$
$\theta_i \dots \dots 23$	$g_2(x)$ 4	$q_k(b, s, t) \dots \dots 13$
<i>a</i> 10	$h(z) \dots 5$	<i>r</i> 10
$a_i \dots \dots \dots 10$	$j_0 \dots \dots \dots 6, 11, 16$	$sep(f) \dots 14$
<i>b</i> 10	j_1 6, 11, 16	$sep(f, \zeta_i, m_i) \dots 14$
$b_i \dots \dots$	$k_1(s,t)\ldots\ldots 13$	$u_m(\mu_m)$ 16
$b_m \dots \dots 13$	m(x)	$u_{m_i}(\mu_{m_i})$
<i>c</i> _{<i>i</i>}	$m^{\langle N \rangle}(0) \dots 22$	<i>x</i> ₀ 2
$d(x, Z) \dots 9$	$p_k \ldots 10$	

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to the anonymous referees for helpful comments and suggestions that led to a substantial improvement of this paper.

Appendix A. Proofs

A.1. Proof of Theorem 4.2

Let us consider a grid of squares contained in the closed disk $\overline{D}(0, \sqrt{2}br)$ as in Fig. 4, i.e., the center of the disk is not, in general, a vertex of the grid. Each square has a size *r*. Our objective is to count the number of squares of the grid contained in the disk. Let us consider the grid's point of coordinate (r_1, r_2) nearest to the center of the disk defined by: $0 \le r_1 < 2r$, $0 \le r_2 < 2r$. We then introduce $s = r_1/r$ and $t = r_2/r$. Let us consider the points $A_k(0, 2kr + r_2)$ for $0 \le k \le k_1(b, s, t)$ and $B_k(0, -2kr - 2r + r_2)$ for $0 \le k \le k_1(b, s, 2 - t)$ as in Fig. 4. It is easy to see the quantity $k_1(b, s, t)$ (respectively, $k_1(b, s, 2 - t)$) is the largest integer k such that there exists a square S with size r included in the disk and $A_k \in S$ (respectively, $B_k \in S$). In fact, from an easy geometric argument based on the Pythagoras formula, we find the A_k 's satisfy the two inequalities

$$2kr + r_2 \leqslant \sqrt{2b^2r^2 - r_1^2} \quad \text{and} \quad 2kr + r_2 \leqslant \sqrt{2b^2r^2 - (2r - r_1)^2}.$$

Hence $k \leqslant \min\left(\frac{\sqrt{2b^2 - s^2} - t}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{2b^2 - (2 - s)^2} - t}{2}\right)$. It follows the value for $k_1(b, s, t)$.

A similar way gives the value $k_1(b, s, 2 - t)$. Always from the Pythagoras formula, we deduce the number of squares of size *r* in the band defined by the points A_{k-1} and A_k included in the disk is: $1 + q_k(b, s, t) + q_k(b, 2 - s, t) = 1 + q_k(b, s, t) + q_k(b, -s, t) - 1 = q_k(b, s, t) + q_k(b, -s, t)$. In the same way, the number of squares of size *r* in the band defined by the points B_{k-1} and B_k included in the disk is: $1 + q_k(b, s, 2 - t) + q_k(b, 2 - s, 2 - t) = q_k(b, s, 2 - t) + q_k(b, -s, 2 - t)$. In the band defined by the points A_0 and B_0 , the number



Fig. 4.

of squares is: $1 + \min(q_0(b, s, t), q_0(b, s, 2-t)) + \min(q_0(b, 2-s, t), q(b, 2-s, 2-t)) = 1 + k_1(b, t, s) + k_1(b, t, 2-s)$. Finally, the maximum number of squares included in the disk is

$$q(b) = 1 + \max_{0 \le s, t \le 2} \left(k_1(b, t, s) + k_1(b, t, 2 - s) + \bar{q}_1(b, s, t) + \bar{q}_1(b, s, 2 - t) \right).$$

Writing the area of squares is less than the area of the disk we find $4q(b)r^2 \leq 2\pi b^2 r^2$. Hence $q(b) \leq \pi b^2/2$. We are done. \Box

A.2. Proof of Theorem 5.3

Let us prove the 1. Let $g(x) = \sum_{k \ge m} \frac{f^{(k)}(\zeta)}{k!} (x - \zeta)^k$. Using Rouché's theorem, we show that *f* and *g* have the same number of zeros (counting multiplicity) in $D(\zeta, \rho)$. Let *w* be such that $|w - \zeta| = \rho$. Since $\alpha_m = \gamma_m \rho \beta_m / \rho \le 1/9$ and $\beta_m / \rho = \frac{1}{3}$, it follows $\gamma_m \rho \le \frac{\beta_m}{\rho} = \frac{1}{3}$. Using both Taylor series expansion at ζ for f(w) - g(w) and g(w) and triangle inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} |f(w) - g(w)| &\leq \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)|}{m!} \rho^m \left(\sum_{k < m} (\beta_m / \rho)^{k-m} \right) \\ &< \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)|}{m!} \rho^m \left(1 - \frac{1/3}{1 - 1/3} \right) \end{split}$$

$$\leq \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)|}{m!} \rho^m \left(1 - \frac{\gamma_m \rho}{1 - \gamma_m \rho} \right)$$
$$\leq \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)|}{m!} \rho^m \left(1 - \sum_{k>m} (\gamma_m \rho)^{k-m} \right)$$
$$\leq |g(w)|.$$

Hence |f(w) - g(w)| < |g(w)| for all w, such that $|w - \zeta| = \rho$ and the Rouché theorem applies. We now prove ζ is the only one zero with multiplicity m of the analytic function g(x) in $D(\zeta, \rho)$. It is clear we have $|g(w)| > \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)|}{2m!}|w - \zeta|^m$ for all w such that $|w - \zeta| < \rho$. Hence $g(w) \neq 0$ for $w \neq \zeta$.

Let us prove the part 2. Let f(w) = 0 and $w \notin D_m(\zeta, \rho)$. Let $s = |w - \zeta|$. If $\gamma_m s \ge 1$ it follows $s \ge \frac{1}{\gamma_m}$. Since $\alpha_m \le \frac{1}{9}$ we have $\frac{1}{\gamma_m} \ge 9\beta_m \ge 3\beta_m$ which implies $s \ge \frac{1}{\gamma_m} > \frac{1}{2\gamma_m} - \frac{3}{2}\beta_m \ge 0$.

In the contrary case $\gamma_m s < 1$, we write

$$0 = f(w) = f(\zeta) + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{f^{(k)}(\zeta)}{k!} (w - \zeta)^k.$$

Since $s > \rho = 3\beta_m$ it follows $\beta_m/s < \beta_m/\rho = 1/3$. Since $\gamma_m s < 1$ and $\beta_m/s < 1$, we get from the previous Taylor's formula

$$\begin{split} 0 &\ge 1 - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{m! |f^{(k)}(\zeta)|}{k! |f^{(m)}(\zeta)|} |w - \zeta|^{k-m} - \sum_{k>m} \frac{m! |f^{(k)}(\zeta)|}{k! |f^{(m)}(\zeta)|} |w - \zeta|^{k-m} \\ &\ge 1 - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \left(\frac{\beta_m}{|w - \zeta|} \right)^{m-k} - \sum_{k>m} \left(\gamma_m |w - \zeta| \right)^{k-m} \\ &\ge 1 - \frac{\beta_m / s}{1 - \beta_m / s} - \frac{\gamma_m s}{1 - \gamma_m s} \\ &\ge \frac{(1 + 3\alpha_m)s - 2\gamma_m s^2 - 2\beta_m}{s(1 - \gamma_m s)(1 - \beta_m / s)} = -\frac{1}{\gamma_m} e(\gamma_m s), \end{split}$$

where $e(u) = 2u^2 - (1 + 3\alpha_m)u + 2\alpha_m$. Hence $e(\gamma_m s) \ge 0$. Since $9\alpha_m \le 1$, the polynomial e(u) has two zeros. An easy computation shows that $e(3\alpha_m) = e(1/2 - 3\alpha_m/2) = (9\alpha_m - 1)\alpha_m \le 0$. But we know that $e(\gamma_m s) \ge 0$, $\gamma_m s > 3\alpha_m$ and $3\alpha_m \le 1/2 - 3\alpha_m/2$ (from $9\alpha_m \le 1$). Hence, $\gamma_m s$ is greater than the largest root of the polynomial e(u). It follows that the inequality $\gamma_m s \ge 1/2 - 3\alpha_m/2$ holds. We are done. \Box

A.3. Proof of Theorem 6.2

Since $L_{m,\delta}(u) < 1$ it follows u < 1 and $f^{(m)}(\zeta) \neq 0$. The function m(x) is defined by M(x, m(x)) = 0. From Taylor's formula in ζ , we get successively

$$0 = |f(x)| - \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!} m(x)^{k}$$

$$\ge \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)(x-\zeta)^{m}|}{m!} - \sum_{k \ne m} \frac{|f^{(k)}(\zeta)(x-\zeta)^{k}|}{k!}$$

$$- \sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{|f^{(m)}(\zeta)(x-\zeta)^{m-k}|}{k!(m-k)!} m(x)^{k}$$

$$- \sum_{k+j < m, k \ge 1} \frac{|f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)(x-\zeta)^{j}|}{k!j!} m(x)^{k}$$

$$- \sum_{k+j > m, k \ge 1} \frac{|f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)(x-\zeta)^{j}|}{k!j!} m(x)^{k}.$$

It is equivalent to

$$0 \ge 1 - \sum_{k \ne m} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k)}(\zeta)}{k! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{k-m} - \sum_{k=1}^{m} \binom{m}{k} \left(\frac{m(x)}{|x - \zeta|} \right)^{k} \\ - \sum_{k+j < m, \ k \ge 1} \binom{k+j}{j} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)}{(k+j)! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{j-m} m(x)^{k} \\ - \sum_{k+j > m, \ k \ge 1} \binom{k+j}{j} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)}{(k+j)! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{j-m} m(x)^{k}.$$

We write this previous inequality under the form

$$0 \ge 1 - A - B - C - D$$

and we bound in the sequel the four sums *A*, *B*, *C*, *D* with respect to *u*. For that we will use the inequality $\beta_m(f; \zeta) \leq \delta u | x - \zeta|$ which goes from $x \notin \overline{D}_m(\zeta, \rho)$.

the inequality $\beta_m(f; \zeta) \leq \delta u |x - \zeta|$ which goes from $x \notin \bar{D}_m(\zeta, \rho)$. The quantity $A = \sum_{k \neq m} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k)}(\zeta)}{k! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{k-m}$ is bounded by

$$\begin{split} A &\leqslant \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \left(\frac{\beta_m(f;\zeta)}{|x-\zeta|} \right)^{m-k} + \sum_{k \geqslant m+1} \left(\gamma_m(f;\zeta)|x-\zeta| \right)^{k-m} \\ &\leqslant \frac{\beta_m(f;\zeta)/|x-\zeta|}{1-\beta_m(f;\zeta)/|x-\zeta|} + \frac{\gamma_m(f;\zeta)|x-\zeta|}{1-\gamma_m(f;\zeta)|x-\zeta|} \leqslant \frac{\delta u}{1-u} + \frac{u}{1-u} \end{split}$$

J.-C. Yakoubsohn / Journal of Complexity 21 (2005) 652-690

The quantity
$$B = \sum_{k=1}^{m} {m \choose k} \left(\frac{m(x)}{|x-\zeta|}\right)^k$$
 is equal to $\left(1 + \frac{m(x)}{|x-\zeta|}\right)^m - 1$.
We bound $C = \sum_{k+j < m, \ k \ge 1} {k+j \choose j} \left|\frac{m!f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)}{(k+j)!f^{(m)}(\zeta)}\right| |x - \zeta|^{j-m}m(x)^k$ using $m(x) \le |x - \zeta|$ and the definition of β (f: ζ)

 $m(x) \leq |x - \zeta|$ and the definition of $p_m(J, \zeta)$.

$$C = \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-k-1} \binom{k+j}{j} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)}{(k+j)! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{j-m} m(x)^k$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-k-1} \binom{k+j}{j} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)}{(k+j)! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{k+j-m}$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1-k} \binom{k+j}{j} \delta u^{m-k-j}.$$

Since the function $j \to {\binom{k+j}{j}}$ increases we deduce $C \leq \delta \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} {\binom{m-1}{m-k-1}} \sum_{i=0}^{m-k-1} u^{m-k-j}$ $\leq \delta \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} {m-1 \choose m-k-1} \frac{u}{1-u}$ $\leqslant (2^{m-1}-1)\frac{\delta u}{1-u}.$

Finally, we bound $D = \sum_{k \neq j < m} \binom{k+j}{j} \left| \frac{m! f^{(k+j)}(\zeta)}{(k+j)! f^{(m)}(\zeta)} \right| |x - \zeta|^{j-m} m(x)^k$. We get

$$D \leqslant \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j \ge m-k+1} \binom{k+j}{j} u^{k+j-m} + \sum_{k \ge m+1} \sum_{j \ge 0} \binom{k+j}{j} u^{k+j-m}.$$

First we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{m}\sum_{j\geqslant m-k+1}\binom{k+j}{j}u^{k+j-m} \leqslant \sum_{k=1}^{m}\sum_{j\geqslant 1}\binom{j+m}{j+m-k}u^{j}.$$

We remark that $\binom{j+m}{j+m-k} \leq \binom{m}{k} \binom{k+j}{j}$. This follows from the fact that the function $j \to l_j = {\binom{j+m}{k}} {\binom{k+j}{j}}^{-1}$ decreases. Hence $l_j \leq l_0 = {\binom{m}{k}}$. Hence we can write $\sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{i>m-k+1} \binom{k+j}{j} u^{k+j-m} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{m} \binom{m}{k} \sum_{j>1} \binom{k+j}{j} u^{j}$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{m} \binom{m}{k} \left(\frac{1}{(1-u)^{k+1}} - 1 \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{(2-u)^{m}}{(1-u)^{m+1}} - \frac{u}{1-u} - 2^{m}.$$

On the other hand using $\sum_{j \ge 0} {\binom{k+j}{j}} u^j = \frac{1}{(1-u)^{k+1}}$, we get

$$\sum_{k \ge m+1} \sum_{j \ge 0} \binom{k+j}{j} u^{k+j-m} \le \sum_{k \ge m+1} \frac{u^{k-m}}{(1-u)^{k-m}} \frac{1}{(1-u)^{m+1}} \le \frac{u}{(1-u)^{m+1}(1-2u)}.$$

Finally

$$D \leqslant \frac{(2-u)^m}{(1-u)^{m+1}} - \frac{u}{1-u} - 2^m + \frac{u}{(1-u)^{m+1}(1-2u)}.$$

We now can to collect the previous point estimates on A, B, C and D. The inequality $0 \ge 1 - A - B - C - D$ becomes

$$0 \ge 2 - \frac{(\delta + 1)u}{1 - u} - \left(1 + \frac{m(x)}{|x - \zeta|}\right)^m - \frac{(2^{m-1} - 1)\delta u}{1 - u} - \frac{(2 - u)^m}{(1 - u)^{m+1}} + \frac{u}{1 - u} + 2^m - \frac{u}{(1 - u)^{m+1}(1 - 2u)} \\ \ge 2 - \left(1 + \frac{m(x)}{|x - \zeta|}\right)^m - L_{m,\delta}(u).$$

Finally

$$\frac{m(x)}{|x-\zeta|} \ge (2-L_{m,\delta}(u))^{\frac{1}{m}}-1.$$

We are done. \Box

A.4. Proof of Theorem 6.4

Let *x* be such that $f(x) \neq 0$. Hence $d(x, Z) \neq 0$ and $m(x) \neq 0$. Remember the quantities $\frac{|g^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|g(x)|}$ are related to the distance function to the set of the zeros *Z* by, see [17, p. 454],

$$\frac{|g^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|g(x)|} \leqslant \binom{d}{k} \frac{1}{d(x,Z)^k}.$$
(13)

Applying Leibniz's rule and bounding from (13), we find easily, for $1 \le k \le d$,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|f(x)|} &\leqslant \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \frac{|g^{(j)}(x)|}{j!|g(x)|} \frac{|h^{(k-j)}(x)|}{(k-j)!|h(x)|} + \frac{|g^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|g(x)|} \\ &\leqslant \lambda \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \binom{d}{j} \frac{\tau^{k-j-1}}{d(x,Z)^j} + \binom{d}{k} \frac{1}{d(x,Z)^k} \\ &\leqslant \frac{\lambda}{\tau d(x,Z)^k} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \binom{d}{j} (\tau d(x,Z))^{k-j} + \binom{d}{k} \frac{1}{d(x,Z)^k}. \end{aligned}$$

From (2) we have $\tau d(x, Z) \leq 2\sqrt{2}s_0 \tau \leq \frac{1}{2}$. It follows

$$\frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|f(x)|} \leqslant \frac{2^d \lambda}{\tau (2d(x,Z))^k} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \binom{d}{j} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{d-j} + \binom{d}{k} \frac{1}{d(x,Z)^k}.$$

Finally

$$\frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|f(x)|} \leqslant \frac{(3^d - 2^d)\lambda}{\tau(2d(x, Z))^k} + \binom{d}{k} \frac{1}{d(x, Z)^k}.$$
(14)

In the same way, since $g^{(k)}(x) = 0$ for $k \ge d + 1$, we find

$$\begin{split} \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|f(x)|} &\leqslant \sum_{j=0}^{d} \frac{|g^{(j)}(x)|}{j!|g(x)|} \frac{|h^{(k-j)}(x)|}{(k-j)!} \\ &\leqslant \lambda \sum_{j=0}^{d} \binom{d}{j} \frac{\tau^{k-j-1}}{d(x,Z)^{j}} \\ &\leqslant \frac{\lambda \tau^{k-d}}{\tau d(x,Z)^{d}} \sum_{j=0}^{d} \binom{d}{j} (\tau d(x,Z))^{d-j}. \end{split}$$

Hence we get

$$\frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|f(x)|} \leqslant \frac{3^d \tau^{k-d} \lambda}{2^d \tau d(x, Z)^d}.$$
(15)

Dividing the identity M(x, m(x)) = 0 by |f(x)| = |g(x)h(x)| and using the inequalities (14), (15) we obtain

$$0 \ge 1 - \sum_{k=1}^d \binom{d}{k} \frac{m(x)^k}{d(x,Z)^k} - \frac{(3^d - 2^d)\lambda}{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^d \left(\frac{m(x)}{2d(x,Z)}\right)^k - \frac{\lambda 3^d}{2^d \tau} \sum_{k \ge d+1} \tau^{k-d} \frac{m(x)^k}{d(x,Z)^d}.$$

Since we have both $m(x) \leq d(x, Z)$ and $\tau d(x, Z) \leq \frac{1}{2}$, the previous inequality becomes

$$0 \ge 2 - \left(1 + \frac{m(x)}{d(x,Z)}\right)^d - \frac{\lambda(3^d - 2^d)m(x)}{2\tau d(x,Z)} \sum_{k=1}^d \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{k-1} \\ - \frac{\lambda 3^d m(x)}{2^d \tau d(x,Z)} \sum_{k \ge d+1} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{k-d} \\ \ge 2 - \left(1 + \frac{m(x)}{d(x,Z)}\right)^d - \frac{\lambda(3^d - 2^d + (3/2)^d)}{\tau} \frac{m(x)}{d(x,Z)} \\ \ge 2 - \left(1 + \frac{m(x)}{d(x,Z)}\right)^d - \frac{\lambda 3^d}{\tau} \frac{m(x)}{d(x,Z)}.$$

Finally thanks to Lemma .1 below the proposition follows. \Box

Lemma .1. Let $c \ge 0$. The positive solution of the equation

$$2 - cu - (1 + u)^{d} = 0$$

is greater than
$$\frac{2^{1/d} - 1}{c(2^{1/d} - 1) + 1}.$$

Proof. The function $u \in [0, +\infty[\rightarrow 2 - (1+u)^d \in \mathbb{R}]$ is a concave function which is zero for $u = 2^{1/d} - 1$. The equation of the straight line joining the points (0, 1) and $(2^{1/d} - 1, 0)$ is $v = -\frac{1}{2^{1/d} - 1}u + 1$. Hence, the zero of the equation $cu = -\frac{1}{2^{1/d} - 1}u + 1$ is less than the zero of $cu = 2 - (1+u)^d$. We are done. \Box

A.5. Proof of Theorem 8.1

The proof is similar to that of the Theorem 4.1. The inequality $j_0 < j_1$ follows from $4b\rho < r$. We first prove it needs j_0 steps in the algorithm to isolate the nearly real clusters of zeros in the interval I_0 . Let $s_k = \frac{s_0}{2^k}$ and $I = I(x, s_k)$ be a non-excluded interval at a level $k \leq j_0$. We have from (H5) $ad(x, Z) \leq m(x) \leq s_k$.

Since $\varepsilon < s_k$ we get for any $z \in I$, $d(z, Z) \leq d(z, x) + d(x, Z) \leq bs_k$. Let us consider $\bigcup_{i=1}^{p} I(\zeta_i, bs_k)$. The number of intervals of length $2s_k$ in $I(\zeta_i, bs_k)$ is bounded by $\lfloor b \rfloor$. Hence the total number q_k of retained intervals at level k is bounded by

$$q_k \leqslant p \lfloor b \rfloor. \tag{16}$$

The index j_0 was selected so that for all z belonging to a retained interval I the inequality $\frac{s_0b}{2^{j_0}} \leq r$ holds. Hence at level j, $j_0 < j < j_1$, we have $d(z, Z) \leq r$. Since the $I(\zeta_i, r)'s$ are pairwise disjoint intervals, the set Z_{ε} will be an union of p pairwise disjoint sets: $Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset I(\zeta_i, r), 1 \leq i \leq p$. Moreover, for all $x \in \overline{I}_i$ we have $m(x) \leq d(x, Z) \leq \rho \leq \frac{s_0}{2^{j_1-1}} \leq \varepsilon$. Hence $\overline{I}_i \subset Z_{\varepsilon,i}$.

We now prove the part 1. To do that, we bound $d(z, \zeta_i)$ for some z in a retained interval $I(x, s_j)$ at level j included in $Z_{\varepsilon,i}$. There are two cases. First, if x lies in $I(\zeta_i, r) \setminus \overline{I_i}$ it follows $d(z, \zeta_i) \leq d(z, x) + d(x, \zeta_i)$. Since $a_i d(x, \zeta_i) \leq m(x) \leq s_j$ we get $d(z, \zeta_i) \leq b_i s_j$. Next, if $x \in \overline{I_i}$ then since $\rho_i < s_j$ it implies $\zeta_i \in I(x, s_j)$. Hence, $d(z, \zeta_i) \leq d(z, x) + d(x, \zeta_i) \leq s_j + \rho_i$. Since $a_i \leq 1$ and $b_i = 1 + 1/a_i \geq 2$, we have $\frac{s_j}{a_i} > \frac{\rho}{a_i} \geq \frac{\rho_i}{a_i} > \rho_i$. It follows

$$d(z, \zeta_i) \leq \max(b_i s_j, s_j + \rho_i) = b_i s_j.$$

The part 1 follows. We now prove the part 2. Hence, at level *j* we have $Z_{\varepsilon,i} \subset I(\zeta_i, b_i s_j) \subset I(\zeta_i, r)$. Hence, the number $q_{\varepsilon,i}$ of retained intervals at level *j* contained in $I(\zeta_i, b'_i s_j)$ verifies:

$$q_{\varepsilon,i} \leqslant \lfloor b_i \rfloor \,. \tag{17}$$

To prove the 3, we remark the numbers p_k (respectively, q_k) of excluded (respectively, retained) intervals are also the numbers of True (respectively, False) at level k. They satisfy the relations

1. $p_0 = 0, q_0 = 1.$ 2. $p_k + q_k = 2q_{k-1}, k \ge 1.$

Using both the bounds (16) and (17), we deduce a bound for the total number Q_{ε} of exclusion tests

$$Q_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{k=0}^{j} p_{k} + q_{k} = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{j} 2q_{k-1} \leq 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{j_{0}} 2q_{k-1} + \sum_{k=j_{0}+1}^{j} 2q_{k-1}$$
$$\leq 1 + 2j_{0}p \lfloor b \rfloor + 2(j - j_{0}) \sum_{i=1}^{p} \lfloor b_{i} \rfloor.$$

We are done. \Box

A.6. Proof of Theorem 9.1

We begin the proof with the bound of Lemma 3.1 p. 69 and formula 5.3, p. 105 [18]

$$|\delta_k| \leq \left((1+u)^{2(d-k)} - 1 \right) \frac{\tilde{f}^{(k)}(|x|)}{k!}$$

Using Proposition 1 of Blum et al. [4, p. 267] we have

$$\frac{\tilde{f}^{(k)}(|x|)}{k!} \leq \binom{d}{k} ||f|| \, |x|_1^{d-k}.$$

Using $t \leq |x|_1$ and Lemma .2 below, we find

$$\sum_{k=0}^{d} |\delta_k| t^k \leq ||f|| \, |x|_1^d \sum_{k=0}^{d} \binom{d}{k} \left((1+u)^{2(d-k)} - 1 \right)$$

$$\leqslant \|f\| \|x\|_{1}^{d} \left((1 + (1 + u)^{2})^{d} - 2^{d} \right)$$

$$\leqslant \frac{3\|f\| \|x\|_{1}^{d} 2^{d-1}u}{1 - \frac{3(d-1)}{4}u}.$$

From Lemma .3, we have $||f|| \leq \sqrt{3}h$. With the definition of *u* and the assumption on *n* the result follows easily. \Box

Lemma .2. We have $(1 + (1 + u)^2)^d - 2^d \leqslant \frac{2^{d-1}3u}{1 - \frac{3(d-1)u}{4}}$.

Proof. From [37, Lemma 2], we know that $\frac{d-1}{2} = \max_{2 \le k \le d} \left(\frac{1}{d} \binom{d}{k}\right)^{\frac{1}{k-1}}$. Hence for v = 3u, we have v < 1 and

$$(2+v)^d - 2^d = 2^{d-1}dv \left(1 + \sum_{k=2}^d \frac{1}{d} \binom{d}{k} \left(\frac{v}{2}\right)^{k-1} \leqslant \frac{2^{d-1}dv}{1 - \frac{d-1}{4}v}\right).$$

Since $(1 + u)^2 < 1 + 3u$ the lemma follows. \Box

Lemma .3.

$$\|f\| \leq \sqrt{3}h$$

Proof. Since $||f||^2 \leq h^2 \sum_{k=0}^d {d \choose k}^{-1}$, we prove this previous sum is less than $\sqrt{3}$. In fact $\sum_{k=0}^d {d \choose k}^{-1} \leq 2 + \sum_{k=1}^{d-1} {d \choose 1}^{-1} \leq 2 + \frac{d-1}{d} < 3.$

We are done. \Box

A.7. Proof of Theorem 9.2

From Theorem 1.2, the number of bits of precision to isolate the roots is given by $j_0 = \left\lceil \log \left(46\sqrt{2}d\gamma(f)s_0 \right) \right\rceil$. A bound for $\gamma(f)$ follows from Lemma .4. We are done. \Box

Lemma .4. $\gamma(f) \leq \frac{\sqrt{3}\max(1,h)\sqrt{d}(d-1)}{2\min(1,d(f,\Sigma))}.$

Proof. Let *x* be a root of the polynomial *f*. We first compute $d(f, \Sigma_x)$. For two complex polynomials $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{d} a_k z^k$ and $g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{d} b_k z^k$, let us define the hermitian product

$$< f,g >= \sum_{k=0}^{d} {\binom{d}{k}}^{-1} a_k \bar{b}_k$$
. We then have $\frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} = < f(z), p_k(z) > \text{with } p_k(z) = {\binom{d}{k}} z^k (1+z\bar{x})^{d-k}$. These useful formulas to represent polynomials can be found in [8].
In this context the polynomials $p_0(z) = (1+z\bar{x})^d$ and $p_1(z) = dz(1+z\bar{x})^{d-1}$ are orthogonal to Σ_x with respect the hermitian product $< ., . >$ above. Consequently the norm of the projection $\pi(f)$ of f on the linear space generated by $p_0(z)$ and $p_1(z)$ is equal to $d(f, \Sigma_x)$. The projection $\pi(f)$ is defined by $< \pi(f), p_0 >= < f, p_0 >= f(x) = 0$ and $< \pi(f), p_1 >= < f, p_1 >= f'(x)$. A straightforward computation gives $\pi(f) = \frac{(- < p_1, p_0 > p_0 + < p_0, p_0 > p_1) f'(x)}{< p_0, p_0 > < p_1, p_1 > - |p_1(x)|^2}$. Since $< p_0, p_0 >= p_0(x), < p_1, p_0 >= p_1(x)$ and $< p_1, p_1 >= p'_1(x) = d(1+d|x|^2)(1+|x|^2)^{d-2}$ it follows

$$d(f, \Sigma_x)^2 = \|\pi(f)\|^2 = \frac{p_0(x)|f'(x)|^2}{\langle p_0, p_0 \rangle \langle p_1, p_1 \rangle - |p_1(x)|^2}$$
$$= \frac{|f'(x)|^2}{d(1+|x|^2)^{d-2}}.$$

Let us bound $< p_k, p_k >$. We have

$$\langle p_k, p_k \rangle = {\binom{d}{k}}^2 \sum_{j=0}^{2d-k} {\binom{d-k}{j}}^2 {\binom{d}{k+j}}^{-1} |x|^{2j}$$
$$= {\binom{d}{k}} \sum_{j=0}^{d-k} {\binom{d-k}{j}} {\binom{k+j}{k}} |x|^{2j}.$$

Since $\binom{k+j}{j} \leq \binom{d}{k}$ it follows $\langle p_k, p_k \rangle \leq \binom{d}{k}^2 (1+|x|^2)^{d-k}$. With the notation $|x|_1^2 = (1+|x|^2)$, we then deduce that

$$\frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!|f'(x)|} \leq \frac{\binom{d}{k} ||f|| ||p_k||}{\sqrt{d} d(f, \Sigma_x) |x|_1^{d-2}} \\ \leq \frac{\binom{d}{k} ||f||}{\sqrt{d} d(f, \Sigma_x) |x|_1^{k-2}}.$$

Using $||f|| \leq \sqrt{3}h$ proved in Lemma .3 and $\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{d}}\binom{d}{k}\right)^{1/(k-1)} \leq \frac{\sqrt{d}(d-1)}{2}$ [4, Chapter 14, Lemma 10], we find that

$$\gamma(f, x) = \sup_{k \ge 2} \left| \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k! f'(x)} \right|^{\frac{1}{k-1}} \le \frac{\sqrt{3} \max(1, h) \sqrt{d} (d-1)}{2 \min(1, d(f, \Sigma_x))}.$$

Since $d(f, \Sigma_x) \ge d(f, \Sigma)$ the result follows. We are done. \Box

A.8. Proof of Theorem 10.1

From Leibniz's rule it follows:

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{d} \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} (z-x)^{k} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k \ge d+1} \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{j=0}^{d_{i}} \binom{k}{j} g_{i}^{(j)}(x) c_{i}^{k-j} e^{c_{i}x} (z-x)^{k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{d} \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} (z-x)^{k} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k \ge d+1} \sum_{j=0}^{d_{i}} \frac{g_{i}^{(j)}(x)}{j!} \frac{c_{i}^{k-j}}{(k-j)!} e^{c_{i}x} (z-x)^{k}.$$

We bound the previous quantity using the definitions of θ_i 's, η_i 's and the fact that $(k-j)! \ge (k-d-1)!(k-d) \dots (k-d_i) \ge (k-d-1)!(d+1-d_i)!$ when $k \ge d+1$. A straightforward computation shows successively with $|z-x| \le r$, that

$$|f(z)| \ge |f(x)| - \sum_{k=1}^{d} \frac{|f^{(k)}(x)|}{k!} r^{k} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{i}(x) \left(\sum_{k \ge d+1} \frac{(\eta_{i}r)^{k-d-1}}{(k-d-1)!} \right) \\ \times \eta_{i}^{d+1-d_{i}} |e^{c_{i}x}| r^{d+1} \ge \bar{M}(x,r).$$

We have also proved $M(x, t) > \overline{M}(x, t)$. Hence $m(x) > \overline{m}(x)$.

The proof of the part 2 is the same one that of Theorem 6.2. We are done. \Box

References

- E. Allgower, M. Erdmann, K. Georg, On the complexity of exclusion algorithms for optimization, J. Complexity 18 (2) (2002) 573–588.
- [2] S. Basu, M.F. Pollack, M.F. Roy, Algorithms in real algebraic geometry, Springer, Berlin, 2003.
- [3] D. Bini, V.Y. Pan, Polynomial and Matrix Computations, vol. 1: Fundamental Algorithms. Birkhauser, Boston, 1994.
- [4] L. Blum, F. Cucker, M. Shub, S. Smale, Complexity and Real Computation, Springer, Berlin, 1998.
- [5] D. Castro, K. Hägele, J.E. Morais, L.M. Pardo, Kronecker's and Newton's approaches to solving: a first comparison, J. Complexity 17 (2001) 212–303.
- [6] G.E. Collins, R. Loos, Real zeroes of polynomials, in: B. Buchberger, G.E. Collins, R. Loos (Eds.), in cooperation with R. Albrecht, Computer Algebra: Symbolic and Algebraic Computation, second ed., Springer, Berlin, 1983.
- [7] J.-P. Dedieu, Estimations for the separation number of a polynomial system, J. Symbolic Comput. 21 (1997) 1–11.
- [8] J.-P. Dedieu, Condition number for sparse polynomials, in: F. Cucker, M. Shub (Eds.), Foundations in Computational Mathematics, Springer, Berlin, 1997, pp. 75–101.
- [9] J.-P. Dedieu, J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Localization of an Algebraic Hypersurface by the Exclusion Algorithm, AAECC 2 (1992) 239–256.
- [10] J.-P. Dedieu, J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Computing the real roots of a polynomial by the exclusion algorithm, Numer. Algorithms 4 (1993) 1–24.
- [11] J.-P. Dedieu, J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Polynomial root finding: a statistical study of a bisection-exclusion algorithm, Unpublished Report LAO 95-04, http://mip.ups-tlse.fr/publi/LAO.html.
- [12] J.-P. Dedieu, X. Gourdon, J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Computing the distance from a point to an algebraic hypersurface, in: J. Renegar, M. Shub, S. Smale (Eds.), The Mathematics of Numerical Analysis, Lectures in Applied Mathematics, vol. 32, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1996, AMS, pp. 285–294.
- [13] M. Dellnitz, O. Junge, B. Thiere, The numerical detection of connecting orbits, Discrete Continuous Dynamical Systems—Ser. B 1 (1) (2001) 125–135.

- [14] M. Dellnitz, O. Schütze, Q. Zhengk, Locating all the zeros of an analytic function in one complex variable, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 138 (2002) 325–333.
- [15] I. Gargantini, P. Henrici, Uniformly convergent algorithms for the simultaneous approximation of all zeros of a polynomial, in: B. Dejon, P. Henrici (Eds.), Constructive Aspects of the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra, Wiley, London, 1969, pp. 77–113.
- [16] M. Giusti, G. Lecerf, B. Salvy, and J.-C. Yakoubsohn, On location and approximation of clusters of zeroes of analytic functions, J. FOCM, 2005, to appear, see http://www.math.uvsq.fr/~lecerf/publications/index.html.
- [17] P. Henrici, Applied and Computational Complex Analysis, vol. 1, Wiley, New York, 1974.
- [18] N.J. Higham, Accuracy and Stability of Numerical Algorithms, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1996.
- [19] M. Kálovics, A reliable method for solving nonlinear systems of equation of few variables, Computing 48 (1992) 291–302.
- [20] R.B. Kearfott, Abstract generalized bisection and a cost bound, Math. Comput. 49 (179) (1987) 187-202.
- [21] R.B. Kearfott, Some tests of generalized bisection, Assoc. Comput. Mech. 13 (3) (1987) 197-220.
- [22] G. Kurt, A new exclusion test, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Recent Advances in Computational Mathematics (ICRACM 2001) (Matsuyama), J. Comput. Appl. Math. 152 (1–2) (2003) 147–160.
- [23] M. Marden, The Geometry of the Zeros of a Polynomial in a Complex Variable, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1949.
- [24] B. Mourrain, F. Rouillier, and M.-F. Roy, Bernstein's basis and real root isolation. Technical Report 5149, INRIA Rocquencourt, 2004.
- [25] B. Mourrain, M.N. Vrahatis, J.-C. Yakoubsohn, On the complexity of isolating real roots and computing with certainty the topological degree, J. Complexity 18 (2002) 612–640.
- [26] A. Ostrowski, Solutions of Equations in Euclidean and Banach Spaces, Academic Press, New York, 1973.
- [27] V. Pan, Solving a polynomial equation: some history and recent progress, SIAM Rev. 39 (2) (1997) 187–220.
- [28] V. Pan, Approximating complex polynomial zeros: modified quadtree (Weyl's) construction and improved Newton's iteration, J. Complexity 16 (1) (2000) 213–264.
- [29] F. Rouillier, P. Zimmermann, Efficient isolation of polynomial real roots, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 162 (1) (2003) 33–50.
- [30] A. Schönhage, The fundamental theorem of algebra in terms of computational complexity, Preliminary Report of Mathematisches Institut der Universität Tübingen, Germany, 1982.
- [31] S. Smale, Newton's estimate from data at one point, in: R. Ewing, K. Goss, G. Martin (Eds.), The Merging of Disciplines: New Directions in Pure, Applied and Computational Mathematics, Springer, New York, 1986, pp. 185–196.
- [32] C. Taubin, Algebraic curves and surfaces in 3D computer vision, in: R.B. Fisher (Ed.), Proceedings of the Fifth IMA Conference on the Mathematics of Surfaces, Edinburgh, September 14–16, 1992, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1994, pp. 453–483.
- [33] H. Weyl, Randbemerkungen zu hauptproblemen der mathematik II: Fundamentalsatz der algebra und grundlagen der mathematik, Math. Z. 20 (1924) 131–150.
- [34] H.S. Wilf, A global bisection algorithm for computing the zeros of polynomials in the complex plane, J. Assoc. Comput. Mach. 25 (3) (1998) 415–420.
- [35] J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Approximating the zeros of analytic function by the exclusion algorithm, Numer. Algorithms 6 (1994) 63–88.
- [36] J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Finding cluster of zeros of univariate polynomial, J. Complexity 16 (3) (2000) 603–638.
- [37] J.-C. Yakoubsohn, Simultaneous computation of all the zero-cluster of a univariate polynomial, in: F. Cucker, M. Rojas (Eds.), Foundations of Computational Mathematics, Proceedings of the Smalefest 2000, World Scientific, Singapore, 2002, pp. 433–457.
- [38] X. Ying, N. Katz, A reliable argument principle algorithm to find the number of zeros of an analytic function in a bounded domain, Numer. Math. 53 (1988) 143–163.
- [39] X. Ying, N. Katz, A simple reliable solver for all the roots of a nonlinear function in a given domain, Computing 41 (1989) 317–333.